NON-LORENTZIAN EXPANSIONS OF THE LORENTZ FORCE AND KINEMATICAL ALGEBRAS

José Luis V. Cerdeira¹, Joaquim Gomis¹ and Axel Kleinschmidt^{2,3}

¹Departament de Física Quàntica i Astrofísica and Institut de Ciències del Cosmos (ICCUB), Universitat de Barcelona Martí i Franquès , 08028 Barcelona, Spain ²Max-Planck-Institut für Gravitationsphysik Albert-Einstein-Institut Am Mühlenberg 1, 14476 Potsdam, Germany ³International Solvay Institutes ULB-Campus Plaine CP231, 1050 Brussels, Belgium

Abstract

We consider non-Lorentzian expansions, Galilean and Carrollian, of the Lorentz force equation in which both the particle position and the electro-magnetic field are expanded. There are two well-known limits in the case of a constant field, called electric and magnetic, that are studied separately. We show that the resulting equations of motion follow equivalently from considering a non-linear realisation of a certain infinite-dimensional algebras.

Contents

1	Introduction	1				
2	Non-relativistic expansion of the Lorentz equation	3				
	2.1 Magnetic limit	4				
	2.2 Electric limit	5				
3	Lie-algebraic reformulation	6				
	3.1 Electric case	7				
	3.2 Magnetic case	11				
4	Carroll limit	14				
	4.1 Bottom-up approach	14				
	4.2 Lie algebraic point of view	17				
5	A note on the duality Carroll–Galilei	23				
6	Conclusion	24				
\mathbf{A}	Expanding in $1/c$	25				
в	Free Lie algebras					

1 Introduction

Non-Lorentzian theories refer to theories that have as their underlying symmetry algebra a kinematical algebra that is different from the Poincaré one, such as the Galilei algebra or the Carroll algebra, for a review see [1]. There is a variety of kinematical algebras that have been classified in [2–6]—in this paper we focus on the Galilean and Carrollian case. Usually, non-Lorentzian systems can be obtained as the limit of a relativistic system when some characteristic parameter goes to zero (infinity). Consider for example a relativistic free point particle and its velocity relative to the speed of light v/c. Taking this parameter to zero (infinity) one obtains the Galilean (Carrollian) free particle. Non-relativistic expansions in $1/c^2$ have been considered in various previous studies, see for example the review [7] in the context of gravity.

Given a relativistic system, instead of considering its strict non-Lorentzian limits, one can perform a non-Lorentzian expansion in terms of the characteristic parameter, that allows one to obtain not only the non-Lorentzian limit, but also a series of corrections. However, only the first term in the expansion exhibits the symmetry of the contracted (non-Lorentzian) algebra, whereas the full expansion exhibits the relativistic symmetry. In [8] it was shown how to study the symmetry algebra of the truncated expansions at any level. The idea is to construct, from the contracted algebra, $\mathfrak{g}_0 := \mathfrak{g}^{(0)}$ with generators $\{t_\alpha^{(0)}\}$ an infinite sequence of expansions $\mathfrak{g}^{(N)}$ with generators $\{t_\alpha^{(n)}\}_{0 \le n \le N}$, leading to an infinite-dimensional Lie algebra \mathfrak{g}_∞ . The method of Lie algebra expansions was pioneered in [9–14]. The infinite-dimensional algebra \mathfrak{g}_∞ is like a non-Lorentzian expansion of the contracted algebra. Since \mathfrak{g} acts on the space-time manifold M, its infinite expansion \mathfrak{g}_{∞} acts on an infinite-dimensional homogeneous space $M^{(\infty)}$ using non-linear realisations. Introducing *collective coordinates* on this generalised space, one can recover the space M and the symmetry algebra \mathfrak{g} .

In [15] it was shown that, starting from the Poincaré algebra, one could obtain a nonrelativistic expansion of the relativistic free particle Lagrangian $\mathcal{L} = -mc\sqrt{-\dot{x}^2}$, by considering an infinite-dimensional algebra \mathfrak{G}_{∞} containing the Galilei algebra \mathfrak{G} as a quotient by an ideal. The non-linear realisation of \mathfrak{G}_{∞} in a top-down approach using an associated infinite-dimensional space-time yields associated Euler-Lagrange equations that correspond to the non-relativistic expansion of equations of motion of a free relativistic particle if we consider a specific slice of $M^{(\infty)}$.

In this work, for the case of a particle in a constant electro-magnetic field, we will start considering the inverse procedure of that in the free case. Starting from the bottom up, we will consider a non-relativistic expansion of the relativistic Lorentz force equation. Both the particle position and the electro-magnetic field are expanded.

In [16] it was shown that the Poincaré algebra admits a non-central extension, the Maxwell algebra. A standard Lagrangian which realises this symmetry algebra is $[17]^1$

$$\mathcal{L} = -mc\sqrt{-\dot{x}^{\mu}\dot{x}_{\mu}} - \frac{1}{2}f_{\mu\nu}\Omega^{\mu\nu}$$
(1.1)

where the dot denotes $d/d\tau$ and $\Omega^{\mu\nu} := \dot{\theta}^{\mu\nu} + \frac{1}{2} (\dot{x}^{\mu} x^{\nu} - \dot{x}^{\nu} x^{\mu})$ is a Maurer–Cartan derivative, while $f_{\mu\nu}(\tau)$ and $\theta^{\mu\nu}(\tau)$ are new dynamical variables, that are similar to higher inertial moments [19, 18]. This Lagrangian describes a relativistic particle subject to a generic external, constant electro-magnetic field represented by $f_{\mu\nu}$.

There is more than one non-Lorentzian limit for electro-magnetism [20-23]. Different regimes arise depending on the relative strength of the magnetic and electric field. The limits are called electric and magnetic depending on the dominant component of the electro-magnetic field.² We will see in both cases that they admit different infinite-dimensional symmetry algebras.

As we shall show these infinite-dimensional algebras coincide with those obtained by applying the Lie algebra expansion method to the relativistic Maxwell algebra in two different ways. For instance in the Galilei case, these two ways differ by connecting to the non-relativistic Galilean electric \mathfrak{E} and Galilean magnetic \mathfrak{M} Maxwell algebras. The corresponding infinitedimensional algebras \mathfrak{E}_{∞} and \mathfrak{M}_{∞} and their relation to the Galilean free algebras [23] will be exhibited.³ These infinite-dimensional algebras admit quotients that describe the symmetries of the expansion up to a finite order in 1/c. Using the non-linear realisation approach we construct Lagrangians associated with these infinite-dimensional algebras, whose Lagrange equation of motion coincide with the ones obtained by expanding the Lorentz equation in the bottom-up approach. The non-linear realisation also involves extra coordinates of the infinite-dimensional

¹Compared to [18] we have changed the sign of the unit charge of the particle, that is the sign in front of the $f_{\mu\nu}$ term.

²There is a third limit, called pulse in [22, 23], where the electric and magnetic field have similar strength. We will comment more on this limit in Section 2 and Appendix A.

³Carrollian free algebras were discussed in [8].

space-time and that are expanded. The Lagrangian also involves extra fields on the particle's world-line that are related to the expansion of the electro-magnetic field. We shall perform a similar analysis for the Carroll limit.

The organisation of this work is as follows: In Section 2, we will obtain a non-relativistic expansion of the Lorentz equation in powers of $1/c^2$ in the two cases depending on whether the constant electric or magnetic field is dominant. In Section 3, we will study the same problem, that of a non-relativistic expansion of the Lorentz equation, through its algebra of symmetries, the Maxwell algebra. The Carroll case, both bottom-up and top-down, is considered in Section 4. In Section 5, we discuss the relation between the Galilei and the Carroll limit with electro-magnetic field. In appendices we also relate our algebraic constructions to that of free Lie algebras, as well as the case of a 1/c expansion rather than $1/c^2$.

2 Non-relativistic expansion of the Lorentz equation

Our starting point is the Lorentz equation for a massive test particle of unit charge in an electro-magnetic field background $F^{\mu\nu}$

$$mc\frac{d}{d\tau}\left(\frac{\dot{x}^{\mu}(\tau)}{\sqrt{-\dot{x}^2}}\right) = F^{\mu\nu}(x(\tau))\dot{x}_{\nu}(\tau)$$
(2.1)

where the dot denotes derivative with respect to the arbitrary worldline parameter τ , x^{μ} is the position four-vector and we are using the metric $\eta^{\mu\nu} = \text{diag}(-1, 1, \dots, 1)$, such that $\dot{x}^2 = \dot{x}^{\mu}\dot{x}_{\mu} = -(\dot{x}^0)^2 + \dot{x}^2$. Greek indices μ, ν refer to space-time indices, while i, j, k, \dots indices will be reserved for the spatial components. In this way we write $x^{\mu} = (x^0, x^i) = (ct, x^i)$. From now on we assume that $F^{\mu\nu}$ is constant but not fixed. This means that under Lorentz transformations we have $x^{\mu} \to \Lambda^{\mu}{}_{\nu}x^{\nu}$ and $F^{\mu\nu} \to \Lambda^{\mu}{}_{\rho}\Lambda^{\nu}{}_{\sigma}F^{\rho\sigma}$. We think of the constant $F_{\mu\nu}$ as parametrising a moduli space of theories and the Lorentz transformation above transforms points on this moduli space. If one were to fix the point on moduli space by taking a fixed $F_{\mu\nu}$, the Lorentz symmetry is broken from six to two generators called the Bacry–Combe–Richards algebra [24].

Separating space and time, the Lorentz force reads in non-manifestly covariant form

$$m\frac{d}{d\tau} \left(\frac{1}{\sqrt{1 - \dot{\vec{x}}^2/(c\dot{t})^2}} \right) = \frac{1}{c^2} \tilde{F}^{ti} \dot{x}_i \,, \tag{2.2a}$$

$$m\frac{d}{d\tau}\left(\frac{\dot{x}^i}{\dot{t}\sqrt{1-\dot{x}^2/(c\dot{t})^2}}\right) = \tilde{F}^{ti}\dot{t} + F^{ij}\dot{x}_j, \qquad (2.2b)$$

where we have defined the rescaled field $\tilde{F}^{ti} = cF^{0i}$ which has the same units as the electric field.

We expand the γ factor $\gamma = 1 + \frac{1}{2}\frac{\dot{\vec{x}}^2}{t^2c^2} + \frac{3}{8}\frac{\dot{\vec{x}}^4}{t^4c^4} + \dots$ and construct an expansion of the coordinates x^{μ} according to⁴

$$t = t_{(0)} + \frac{1}{c^2} t_{(1)} + \dots, \qquad x^i = x^i_{(0)} + \frac{1}{c^2} x^i_{(1)} + \dots$$
 (2.3)

as well as of the electro-magnetic field $F^{\mu\nu}$ by

$$\tilde{F}^{ti} = \tilde{F}^{ti}_{(0)} + \frac{1}{c^2} \tilde{F}^{ti}_{(1)} + \dots \qquad F^{ij} = F^{ij}_{(0)} + \frac{1}{c^2} F^{ij}_{(1)} + \dots \qquad (2.4)$$

Order by order in $1/c^2$, the following non relativistic expansion of the Lorentz equation (2.2) is obtained:

$$m\frac{d}{d\tau} \left[\frac{\dot{\vec{x}}_{(0)}^2}{2\dot{t}_{(0)}^2} \right] = \tilde{F}_{(0)}^{ti} \dot{\vec{x}}_{(0)i}$$
(2.5a)

$$m\frac{d}{d\tau} \left[\frac{\dot{x}_{(0)}^{i}}{\dot{t}_{(0)}} \right] = -\tilde{F}_{(0)}^{it} \dot{t}_{(0)} + F_{(0)}^{ij} \dot{x}_{(0)j}$$
(2.5b)

$$m\frac{d}{d\tau}\left[\frac{3}{8}\frac{(\dot{\vec{x}}_{(0)}^2)^2}{\dot{t}_{(0)}^4} + \frac{\dot{\vec{x}}_{(0)}\cdot\dot{\vec{x}}_{(1)}}{\dot{t}_{(0)}^2} - \frac{\dot{\vec{x}}_{(0)}^2\dot{t}_{(1)}}{\dot{t}_{(0)}^3}\right] = \tilde{F}_{(0)}^{ti}\dot{x}_{(1)i} + \tilde{F}_{(1)}^{ti}\dot{x}_{(0)i}$$
(2.5c)

$$m\frac{d}{d\tau}\left[\frac{1}{2}\frac{\dot{\vec{x}}_{(0)}^{2}\dot{\vec{x}}_{(0)}^{i}}{\dot{t}_{(0)}^{3}} - \frac{\dot{t}_{(1)}\dot{\vec{x}}_{(0)}^{i}}{\dot{t}_{(0)}^{2}} + \frac{\dot{\vec{x}}_{(1)}^{i}}{\dot{t}_{(0)}}\right] = -\tilde{F}_{(0)}^{it}\dot{t}_{(1)} + F_{(0)}^{ij}\dot{\vec{x}}_{(1)j} - \tilde{F}_{(1)}^{it}\dot{t}_{(0)} + F_{(1)}^{ij}\dot{\vec{x}}_{(0)j} \quad (2.5d)$$

Continuing these equations to infinite order is still fully equivalent to the relativistic system (2.2). The equations (2.5a) and (2.5b) are the standard non-relativistic particle in a general electromagnetic field. In particular, (2.5a) is the conservation of energy.

. . .

We are now interested in non-Lorentzian limits of the charged particle. It is known that there is not a single non-relativistic limit for electro-magnetism [20–23]. Instead, different regimes appear depending on the relative strength of the magnetic and electric field. In the magnetic limit $|\mathbf{E}|/|\mathbf{B}| \ll c$ whereas in the electric limit $|\mathbf{E}|/|\mathbf{B}| \gg c$.⁵ Since $|\mathbf{E}|^2 - c^2|\mathbf{B}|^2$ is Lorentz-invariant, the notion of the different limits is independent of the choice of frame.

2.1 Magnetic limit

The magnetic limit can be obtained by having $F_{(0)}^{ij} \neq 0$ and keeping \tilde{F}^{ti} fixed, since then

$$F^{ij} \gg \frac{1}{c} \tilde{F}^{ti} \tag{2.6}$$

⁴Here, we are assuming an expansion in powers of $1/c^2$. In Appendix A, we consider a 1/c expansion which is more appropriate for a certain limit of the Maxwell equations.

⁵There is a third limit, called pulse in [22,23], where the electric and magnetic field have similar strength, i.e. $|\mathbf{E}| = c|\mathbf{B}|$. This limit is not compatible with the expansion proposed in (2.4) but instead requires a 1/c expansion that will be treated in Appendix A.

is satisfied. The particle's equations in the magnetic limit are therefore formally the same as before taking the limit, namely (2.5). However, the limit in the Maxwell field equations in the magnetic case are only non-relativistically invariant and lack the displacement current [20, 21].

The equations (2.5) are invariant under the following transformation laws:

$$\delta t_{(n)} = \epsilon_{(n)} + \sum_{m=0}^{n-1} \vec{v}_{(m)} \cdot \vec{x}_{(n-m-1)}, \qquad \delta x_{(n)}^i = \epsilon_{(n)}^i + \sum_{m=0}^n v_{(m)}^i t_{(n-m)}, \qquad (2.7a)$$

$$\delta \tilde{F}_{(n)}^{ti} = \sum_{m=0}^{n} v_{(m)k} F_{(n-m)}^{ki}, \qquad \delta F_{(n)}^{ij} = -2 \sum_{m=0}^{n-1} \tilde{F}_{(m)}^{t[i]} v_{(n-m-1)}^{j]}, \qquad (2.7b)$$

where we have introduced the expansion of the boost parameter $v^i = v^i_{(0)} + \frac{1}{c^2}v^i_{(1)} + \dots$ and also expanded time and spatial translations, $\epsilon = \epsilon_{(0)} + \frac{1}{c^2}\epsilon_{(1)} + \dots$ and $\epsilon^i = \epsilon^i_{(0)} + \frac{1}{c^2}\epsilon^i_{(1)} + \dots$

These transformations can be obtained as the non-relativistic expansion of the infinitesimal Lorentz transformations. The transformations for the electro-magnetic fields are the Galilean expansion of the Lorentz transformation of $F_{\mu\nu}$ relating different constant fields, thus moving on moduli space. As we shall show in the next section the transformations laws for $t_{(n)}$ and $x_{(n)}^i$ are the same as for the action of the \mathfrak{G}_{∞} algebra that was introduced in [15]. The transformations for the electro-magnetic fields will also be seen to agree with those derived from an extended algebra.

The boost operator defines a sequence:

$$\dots x_{(1)}^{i} \xrightarrow{v_{(1)}^{i}} t_{(1)} \xrightarrow{v_{(0)}^{i}} x_{(0)}^{i} \xrightarrow{v_{(0)}^{i}} t_{(0)} \xrightarrow{v_{(0)}^{i}} 0, \qquad (2.8)$$

which extends the known two-step nilpotency $\vec{x} \xrightarrow{\vec{v}} t \xrightarrow{\vec{v}} 0$ of the Galilei algebra (see e.g. [8]) to higher orders.

The sequence of boosts can also be used to relate the equations of motion in an indecomposable manner:

$$\dots (2.5d) \xrightarrow{v_{(1)}^{i}} (2.5c) \xrightarrow{v_{(0)}^{i}} (2.5b) \xrightarrow{v_{(0)}^{i}} (2.5a) \xrightarrow{v_{(0)}^{i}} 0.$$

$$(2.9)$$

This action is indecomposable as there is no transformation going in the other direction.

2.2 Electric limit

To obtain the electric limit, one can set $F_{(0)}^{ij} = 0$, so that for $\tilde{F}_{(0)}^{ti} \neq 0$ one has

$$F^{ij} \ll \frac{1}{c} \tilde{F}^{ti}.$$
(2.10)

This leads to the following limit of the equations of motions (2.5):

$$m\frac{d}{d\tau} \left[\frac{\dot{\vec{x}}_{(0)}^2}{2\dot{t}_{(0)}^2} \right] = \tilde{F}_{(0)}^{ti} \dot{x}_{(0)i} , \qquad (2.11a)$$

$$m\frac{d}{d\tau} \left[\frac{\dot{x}_{(0)}^{i}}{\dot{t}_{(0)}} \right] = \tilde{F}_{(0)}^{ti} \dot{t}_{(0)} , \qquad (2.11b)$$

$$m\frac{d}{d\tau} \left[\frac{3}{8} \frac{(\dot{\vec{x}}_{(0)}^2)^2}{\dot{t}_{(0)}^4} + \frac{\dot{\vec{x}}_{(0)} \cdot \dot{\vec{x}}_{(1)}}{\dot{t}_{(0)}^2} - \frac{\dot{\vec{x}}_{(0)}^2 \dot{t}_{(1)}}{\dot{t}_{(0)}^3} \right] = \tilde{F}_{(0)}^{ti} \dot{x}_{(1)i} + \tilde{F}_{(1)}^{ti} \dot{x}_{(0)i} \,, \tag{2.11c}$$

$$m\frac{d}{d\tau}\left[\frac{1}{2}\frac{\dot{\vec{x}}_{(0)}^{2}\dot{x}_{(0)}^{i}}{\dot{t}_{(0)}^{3}} - \frac{\dot{t}_{(1)}\dot{x}_{(0)}^{i}}{\dot{t}_{(0)}^{2}} + \frac{\dot{x}_{(1)}^{i}}{\dot{t}_{(0)}}\right] = \tilde{F}_{(0)}^{ti}\dot{t}_{(1)} + \tilde{F}_{(1)}^{ti}\dot{t}_{(0)} + F_{(1)}^{ij}\dot{x}_{(0)j}.$$
(2.11d)

These equations are invariant instead under the transformations

$$\delta t_{(n)} = \epsilon_{(n)} + \sum_{m=0}^{n-1} \vec{v}_{(m)} \cdot \vec{x}_{(n-m-1)}, \qquad \delta x_{(n)}^i = \epsilon_{(n)}^i + \sum_{m=0}^n v_{(m)}^i t_{(n-m)}, \qquad (2.12a)$$

$$\delta \tilde{F}_{(n)}^{ti} = \sum_{m=0}^{n-1} v_{(m)k} F_{(n-m-1)}^{ki}, \qquad \delta F_{(n)}^{ij} = \sum_{m=0}^{n} -2\tilde{F}_{(m)}^{t[i]} v_{(n-m)}^{j]}$$
(2.12b)

that differ from the magnetic transformations (2.7). In the next section, we shall show how these equations and transformations obtained from a bottom-up approach can also be derived from the top down by using a suitable infinite-dimensional Lie algebra.

3 Lie-algebraic reformulation

A particle subject to a constant electro-magnetic field has symmetries extending the Poincaré algebra [24]. If one transforms also the electro-magnetic background under Lorentz transformations, the associated algebra of symmetries is the Maxwell algebra [16–18] which is a non-central extension of the Poincaré algebra, with generators $P_{\mu}, M_{\mu\nu}$ and $Z_{\mu\nu}$. The algebra is given by

$$[M_{\mu\nu}, M_{\rho\sigma}] = \eta_{\nu\rho} M_{\mu\sigma} - \eta_{\nu\sigma} M_{\mu\rho} - \eta_{\mu\rho} M_{\nu\sigma} + \eta_{\mu\sigma} M_{\nu\rho} , \qquad (3.1a)$$

$$[M_{\mu\nu}, P_{\rho}] = \eta_{\nu\rho} P_{\mu} - \eta_{\nu\rho} P_{\mu} , \qquad (3.1b)$$

$$[P_{\mu}, P_{\nu}] = Z_{\mu\nu} \,. \tag{3.1c}$$

The most general reparametrisation-invariant Lagrangian at first order in derivatives one could write realising this symmetry algebra is

$$\mathcal{L} = -mc\sqrt{-\dot{x}^{\mu}\dot{x}_{\mu}} - \frac{1}{2}f_{\mu\nu}\Omega^{\mu\nu}, \qquad (3.2)$$

where $\Omega^{\mu\nu} := \dot{\theta}^{\mu\nu} + \frac{1}{2} (\dot{x}^{\mu} x^{\nu} - \dot{x}^{\nu} x^{\mu})$ is the Maurer–Cartan derivative and $\theta^{\mu\nu}$ are the coordinates associated to the new generators $Z_{\mu\nu}$. This Lagrangian describes a point particle subject to an external constant electro-magnetic field. The field $f_{\mu\nu} = f_{\mu\nu}(\tau)$ is set to a constant by the equations of motion of $\theta_{\mu\nu}(\tau)$.

We want to construct a perturbative expansion of the Maxwell algebra by combining its contractions with the method of Lie algebra expansions [9–14]. The contraction of relevance in this paper can be obtained by a suitable rescaling of the generators. Starting from an algebra \mathfrak{g} with generators t_{α} and structure constants $f_{\alpha\beta}{}^{\gamma}$, we define a new Lie algebra \mathfrak{g}_{ω} for each $\omega > 0$ by rescaling some generators homogeneously with powers of ω . For any $\omega > 0$ this is an invertible definition and the resulting Lie algebra \mathfrak{g}_{ω} is isomorphic to the starting one. The

contracted algebra $\mathfrak{g}_{\omega\to\infty}$ is well-defined if the limit $\omega\to\infty$ makes sense and the algebra is typically no longer isomorphic to \mathfrak{g} and one cannot necessarily invert the contraction process.

It is possible to keep track of information of the original algebra \mathfrak{g} by a perturbative scheme known as Lie algebra expansion. To each generator t_{α} of \mathfrak{g} one associates a formal power series

$$t_{\alpha} \to \sum_{n \ge 0} t_{\alpha} \otimes \lambda^{n_0(\alpha)+n} = \sum_{n \ge 0} t_{\alpha}^{(n)}, \qquad (3.3)$$

where the offset $n_0(\alpha)$ can depend on the generator. This produces an infinite-dimensional algebra out of \mathfrak{g} with generators $t_{\alpha}^{(n)}$. The label n is to be thought of as the nth order perturbative expansion in the parameter λ and the offset has to be chosen in such a way that the commutator of order m with order n only contains generators of order $\geq m+n$. The commutator is here defined by combining the commutator on \mathfrak{g} with the product of formal power series in λ .

At lowest order, the commutators involving of the $t_{\alpha}^{(0)}$ then can be arranged to be those of the contracted algebra, but the higher terms capture the perturbative expansion of the original algebra \mathfrak{g} .

A perturbative expansion for the Poincaré algebra adapted to the Galilean contraction was presented in [15], obtaining an infinite-dimensional algebra \mathfrak{G}_{∞} .

In Sections 3.1 and 3.2, we will show the explicit contractions and constructions of the expanded algebra relevant to the electric and magnetic limits of electro-magnetism. In Appendix B we also show how this construction can be embedded in an even more general construction of infinite-dimensional *free* Lie algebras in the magnetic and electric limits.

3.1 Electric case

The electric limit \mathfrak{E} of the Maxwell algebra is obtained by separating space and time indices and performing the following contraction of (3.1), see [22, 23]:

$$\tilde{M}_{ij} = M_{ij}, \qquad \qquad \tilde{G}_i = \frac{1}{\omega} M_{i0}, \qquad (3.4a)$$

$$\tilde{H} = \omega P_0, \qquad \qquad \tilde{P}_i = P_i, \qquad (3.4b)$$

$$\tilde{Z}_{ij} = \omega^2 Z_{ij}, \qquad \qquad \tilde{Z}_i = \omega Z_{0i}.$$
(3.4c)

The contracted algebra in the limit $\omega \to \infty$ has the commutation relations

$$\tilde{G}_{i}, \tilde{P}_{j} = 0, \qquad \left[\tilde{M}_{ij}, \tilde{P}_{k}\right] = 2\delta_{k[j}\tilde{P}_{i]}, \qquad \left[\tilde{G}_{i}, \tilde{Z}_{j}\right] = 0, \qquad (3.5a)$$

$$\begin{bmatrix} \tilde{H}, \tilde{G}_i \end{bmatrix} = \tilde{P}_i, \qquad \begin{bmatrix} \tilde{M}_{ij}, \tilde{G}_k \end{bmatrix} = 2\delta_{k[j}\tilde{G}_{i]}, \qquad \begin{bmatrix} \tilde{P}_i, \tilde{P}_j \end{bmatrix} = 0, \qquad (3.5b)$$

$$\begin{bmatrix} \tilde{H}, \tilde{P}_i \end{bmatrix} = \tilde{Z}_i, \qquad \begin{bmatrix} \tilde{M}_{ij}, \tilde{Z}_k \end{bmatrix} = 2\delta_{k[j}\tilde{Z}_{i]}, \qquad \begin{bmatrix} \tilde{G}_k, \tilde{Z}_{ij} \end{bmatrix} = 2\delta_{k[i}\tilde{Z}_{j]}, \qquad (3.5c)$$

$$\left[\tilde{G}_{i},\tilde{G}_{j}\right] = 0, \qquad \left[\tilde{M}_{ij},\tilde{Z}_{kl}\right] = -4\delta_{\left[i\left[l\tilde{Z}_{k}\right]j\right]}.$$
(3.5d)

We will construct the infinite-dimensional algebra \mathfrak{E}_{∞} via the method of Lie algebra expansion by a semigroup [9–14], $S_E^{(\infty)}$ as follows. Decompose the relativistic Maxwell algebra into [25]

$$V_0 = \{M_{ij}, P_0, Z_{ij}\} \text{ and } V_1 = \{M_{0i}, P_i, Z_{0i}\},$$
(3.6)

which is a \mathbb{Z}_2 -grading:

$$[V_0, V_0] \subset V_0, \quad [V_0, V_1] \subset V_1, \quad [V_1, V_1] \subset V_0.$$
 (3.7)

Using the resonant semigroups $S_0^{(\infty)} = \{\lambda_{2m} | m = 0, 1, ...\}$ and $S_1^{(\infty)} = \{\lambda_{2m+1} | m = 0, 1, ...\}$, we can construct the expanded algebra $V_0 \otimes S_0^{(\infty)} \oplus V_1 \otimes S_1^{(\infty)}$ with generators

$$J_{ij}^{(m)} = M_{ij} \otimes \lambda_{2m}, \qquad \qquad H^{(m)} = P_0 \otimes \lambda_{2m}, \qquad \qquad Z_{ij}^{(m)} = Z_{ij} \otimes \lambda_{2m}, \qquad (3.8a)$$

$$G_i^{(m)} = M_{0i} \otimes \lambda_{2m+1}, \qquad P_i^{(m)} = P_i \otimes \lambda_{2m+1}, \qquad Z_i^{(m)} = Z_{0i} \otimes \lambda_{2m+1}.$$
 (3.8b)

and commutation relations

$$\begin{split} [J_{ij}^{(m)}, J_{kl}^{(n)}] &= 4\delta_{[i[k}J_{l]j]}^{(m+n)}, \qquad \begin{bmatrix} J_{ij}^{(m)}, P_{k}^{(n)} \end{bmatrix} = -2\delta_{k[i}P_{j]}^{(m+n)}, \qquad \begin{bmatrix} J_{ij}^{(m)}, Z_{kl}^{(n)} \end{bmatrix} = 4\delta_{[i[k}Z_{l]j]}^{(m+n)}, \\ (3.9a) \\ &\begin{bmatrix} J_{ij}^{(m)}, G_{k}^{(n)} \end{bmatrix} = -2\delta_{k[i}G_{j]}^{(m+n)}, \qquad \begin{bmatrix} G_{i}^{(m)}, H^{(n)} \end{bmatrix} = -P_{i}^{(m+n)}, \qquad \begin{bmatrix} J_{ij}^{(m)}, Z_{k}^{(n)} \end{bmatrix} = 2\delta_{k[j}Z_{i]}^{(m+n)}, \\ & (3.9b) \\ \begin{bmatrix} G_{i}^{(m)}, P_{j}^{(n)} \end{bmatrix} = \delta_{ij}H^{(m+n+1)}, \qquad \begin{bmatrix} G_{i}^{(m)}, G_{j}^{(n)} \end{bmatrix} = J_{ij}^{(m+n+1)}, \qquad \begin{bmatrix} Z_{ij}^{(m)}, G_{k}^{(n)} \end{bmatrix} = -2\delta_{k[i}Z_{j]}^{(m+n)}, \\ & (3.9c) \\ \begin{bmatrix} G_{i}^{(m)}, Z_{j}^{(n)} \end{bmatrix} = Z_{ij}^{(m+n+1)}, \qquad \begin{bmatrix} P_{i}^{(m)}, H^{(n)} \end{bmatrix} = -Z_{i}^{(m+n)}, \qquad \begin{bmatrix} P_{i}^{(m)}, P_{j}^{(n)} \end{bmatrix} = Z_{ij}^{(m+n+1)}. \end{split}$$

As noted in Appendix B, these expansions can be obtained as particular quotients of suitable Galilean free Lie algebras. Note that quotienting by the ideal generated by all generators of levels $m \geq 1$ we recover the electric Maxwell algebra \mathfrak{E} .

Our next aim is to construct a dynamical model that is invariant under the infinite-dimensional \mathfrak{E}_{∞} . This will be modelled after the charged particle (3.2).

To make the connection more transparent, we let $\lambda_{2m} = c^{-2m}$ and $\lambda_{2m+1} = c^{-2m-1}$ in the above expansion, and introducing convenient factors of c. The generators of the electric Maxwell algebra then read

$$H^{(m)} = P_0 \otimes c^{-2m+1}, \qquad P_i^{(m)} = P_i \otimes c^{-2m}, \qquad G_i^{(m)} = M_{0i} \otimes c^{-2m-1}, \qquad (3.10a)$$

$$J_{ij}^{(m)} = M_{ij} \otimes c^{-2m}, \qquad Z_i^{(m)} = Z_{0i} \otimes c^{-2m+1}, \qquad Z_{ij}^{(m)} = Z_{ij} \otimes c^{-2m+2}.$$
(3.10b)

If we give dimensions L^{-1} to the relativistic translations, and no units to relativistic Lorentz transformations, then, using the above definitions, the level 0 generators, which we wish to identify with the Galilean limit of the Maxwell generators, have the following units $[H^{(0)}] = T^{-1}$ $[P_i^{(0)}] = L^{-1}, [G_i^{(0)}] = TL^{-1}, [J_{ij}^{(0)}] = 1, [Z_i^{(0)}] = L^{-1}T^{-1}$ and $[Z_{ij}^{(0)}] = T^{-2}$. The generators (3.10) satisfy the commutation relations (3.9).

From the algebra we define the homogeneous space with generalised coordinates on which \mathfrak{E}_{∞} acts, by quotienting by generalised "Lorentz" generators: $G_i^{(m)}, J_{ij}^{(m)}$, i.e. the formal coset

$$\exp \mathfrak{E}_{\infty} / \exp \mathfrak{L}_{\infty} \,. \tag{3.11}$$

Introduce in this space the coordinates $x_{(m)}^i$, $t_{(m)}$, $\theta_{(m)}^i$, $\phi_{(m)}^{ij}$ associated to $P_i^{(m)}$, $H^{(m)}$, $Z_i^{(m)}$, $Z_{ij}^{(m)}$, respectively. In this way, $x_{(0)}^i$ and $t_{(0)}$ have units of length and time respectively, whereas $\theta_{(0)}^i$ has units of LT, and $\phi_{(0)}^{ij}$ of T^2 . If we want θ^i and ϕ^{ij} to have interpretation as inertial momentum [19], we need to add factors of c through the collective coordinates.

The infinitesimal action of a general element of the algebra of the form:

$$\sum_{n=0}^{\infty} \left(\epsilon_{(n)} H^{(n)} + \epsilon_{(n)}^{i} P_{i}^{(n)} + v_{(n)}^{i} G_{i}^{(n)} + \varepsilon_{(n)}^{i} Z_{i}^{(n)} + \varepsilon_{(n)}^{ij} Z_{ij}^{(n)} \right)$$
(3.12)

on the generalised space of coordinates is given by

$$\delta t_{(m)} = \epsilon_{(m)} + \sum_{n=0}^{m-1} v_{(m-n-1)}^i x_i^{(n)}$$
(3.13a)

$$\delta x_{(m)}^{i} = \epsilon_{(m)}^{i} + \sum_{n=0}^{m} v_{(m-n)}^{i} t_{(n)}$$
(3.13b)

$$\delta\theta^{i}_{(m)} = \varepsilon^{i}_{(m)} + \sum_{n=0}^{m} \frac{1}{2} \epsilon^{i}_{(m-n)} t_{(n)} - \frac{1}{2} \epsilon_{(m-n)} x^{i}_{(n)} - 2v^{k}_{(m-n)} \phi^{i}_{k(n)}$$
(3.13c)

$$\delta\phi_{(m)}^{ij} = \varepsilon_{(m)}^{ij} + \sum_{n=0}^{m-1} \epsilon_{(m-n-1)}^{[i} x_{(n)}^{j]} - 2v_{(m-n-1)}^{[i} \theta_{(n)}^{j]}$$
(3.13d)

The connection to (3.2) is via the collective coordinates

$$X^{i} = \sum_{m=0}^{\infty} c^{-2m} x^{i}_{(m)}, \quad T = \sum_{m=0}^{\infty} c^{-2m} t_{(m)}, \quad \Theta^{i} = \sum_{m=0}^{\infty} c^{-2m+1} \theta^{i}_{(m)}, \quad \Phi^{ij} = \sum_{m=0}^{\infty} c^{-2m+2} \phi^{ij}_{(m)},$$
$$F_{0i} = \sum_{m=0}^{\infty} c^{-2m-1} f^{(m)}_{0i}, \quad F_{ij} = \sum_{m=0}^{\infty} c^{-2m-2} f^{(m)}_{ij}.$$
(3.14)

They give Θ^i and Φ^{ij} units of inertial momenta. With these definitions, $f_{0i}^{(0)}$ already has dimensions of electric field, and $f_{ij}^{(0)}$ dimensions of magnetic field.

Plugging these collective coordinates into (3.2) and grouping in powers of $1/c^2$, we obtain the following expansion of the associated action $S = \sum_{m=0}^{\infty} S_{(m)}$ with $S_{(m)}$ proportional to c^{2-2m} :

$$S_{(0)} = -mc^{2} \int d\tau \left[\dot{t}_{(0)}\right]$$

$$S_{(1)} = \int d\tau \left\{ -m \left[\dot{t}_{(1)} - \frac{\dot{x}_{(0)}^{2}}{2\dot{t}_{(0)}} \right] - f_{0i}^{(0)} \left(\dot{\theta}_{(0)}^{i} + \frac{1}{2} \left(\dot{t}_{(0)} x_{(0)}^{i} - \dot{x}_{(0)}^{i} t_{(0)} \right) \right) - \frac{1}{2} f_{ij}^{(0)} \left(\dot{\phi}_{(0)}^{ij} \right) \right\},$$

$$(3.15b)$$

$$S_{(2)} = \frac{1}{c^2} \int d\tau \left\{ -m \left[\dot{t}_{(2)} - \frac{\dot{x}_{(0)}^i \dot{x}_{(1)}^j \delta_{ij}}{\dot{t}_{(0)}} + \frac{\dot{t}_{(1)} \dot{x}_{(0)}^2}{2\dot{t}_{(0)}^2} - \frac{\dot{x}_{(0)}^4}{8\dot{t}_{(0)}^3} \right] - f_{0i}^{(0)} \left(\dot{\theta}_{(1)}^i + \frac{1}{2} \left(\dot{t}_{(1)} x_{(0)}^i + x_{(1)}^i \dot{t}_{(0)} - \dot{x}_{(0)}^i t_{(1)} - t_{(0)} \dot{x}_{(1)}^i \right) \right) - f_{0i}^{(1)} \left(\dot{\theta}_{(0)}^i + \frac{1}{2} \left(\dot{t}_{(0)} x_{(0)}^i - \dot{x}_{(0)}^i t_{(0)} \right) \right) - \frac{1}{2} f_{ij}^{(0)} \left(\dot{\phi}_{(1)}^{ij} + \frac{1}{2} \left(\dot{x}_{(0)}^i x_{(0)}^j - \dot{x}_{(0)}^j x_{(0)}^i \right) \right) - \frac{1}{2} f_{ij}^{(1)} \dot{\phi}_{(0)}^{ij} \right\} \dots$$
...

These actions are invariant under the transformations (3.13), if they are supplemented by the transformation

$$\delta f_{0i}^{(m)} = -\sum_{n=0}^{m-1} v_{(n)}^{j} f_{ij}^{(m-n-1)},$$

$$\delta f_{ij}^{(m)} = 2\sum_{n=0}^{m} v_{[i}^{(n)} f_{0|j]}^{(m-n)}.$$
(3.16)

The action $S_{(0)}$ is a total derivative with trivial dynamics, the action $S_{(1)}$ gives the strict electric limit of the charged particle. Since we are interested in corrections, we investigate the equations of motion of $S_{(2)}$ that read:

$$\frac{m}{2}\frac{d}{d\tau}\left(\frac{\dot{x}_{(0)}^2}{\dot{t}_{(0)}^2}\right) = -f_{0i}^{(0)}\dot{x}_{(0)}^i\,,\tag{3.17a}$$

$$i \frac{d}{d\tau} \left(\frac{\dot{x}_{(0)}}{\dot{t}_{(0)}} \right) = -f_{0i}^{(0)} \dot{t}_{(0)} ,$$
 (3.17b)

$$m\frac{d}{d\tau}\left(\frac{\dot{\vec{x}}_{(1)}\cdot\dot{\vec{x}}_{(0)}}{\dot{t}_{(0)}^2} - \frac{\dot{t}_{(1)}\dot{x}_{(0)}^2}{\dot{t}_{(0)}^3} + \frac{3}{8}\frac{\dot{x}_{(0)}^4}{\dot{t}_{(0)}^4}\right) = -f_{0i}^{(1)}\dot{x}_{(0)}^i - f_{0i}^{(0)}\dot{x}_{(1)}^i, \qquad (3.17c)$$

$$m\frac{d}{d\tau}\left(\frac{\dot{x}_{i(1)}}{\dot{t}_{(0)}} - \frac{\dot{t}_{(1)}\dot{x}_{i(0)}}{\dot{t}_{(0)}^2} + \frac{1}{2}\frac{\ddot{x}_{(0)}^2\dot{x}_{i(0)}}{\dot{t}_{(0)}^3}\right) = -f_{0i}^{(1)}\dot{t}_{(0)} - f_{0i}^{(0)}\dot{t}_{(1)} + f_{ij}^{(0)}\dot{x}_{(0)}^j.$$
(3.17d)

In deriving these equations, we have used the equations obtained by varying the fields $\theta^i_{(m)}$ and $\phi_{(m)}^{ij}$ that read

$$\dot{f}_{ij}^{(m)} = \dot{f}_{0i}^{(m)} = 0 \tag{3.18}$$

 η

and force the components $f_{ij}^{(m)}$ and $f_{0i}^{(m)}$ to be constants. For these τ -independent quantities we see that (3.17) agree with the equations (2.11) under the identification $\tilde{F}_{(m)}^{ti} = f_{(m)}^{0i}$, $F_{(m+1)}^{ij} = f_{(m)}^{ij}$ and after raising/lowering indices.

3.2 Magnetic case

The magnetic limit of the Maxwell algebra is instead obtained from rescaling the generators as follows [22]

$$\tilde{M}_{ij} = M_{ij}, \qquad \qquad \tilde{G}_i = \frac{1}{\omega} M_{i0}, \qquad (3.19a)$$

$$\tilde{H} = \omega P_0, \qquad \qquad \tilde{P}_i = P_i, \qquad (3.19b)$$

$$\tilde{Z}_{ij} = Z_{ij}, \qquad \qquad \tilde{Z}_i = \omega Z_{0i}.$$
(3.19c)

The new commutation relations, after taking the limit $\omega \to \infty$ read

$$\begin{bmatrix} \tilde{G}_i, \tilde{P}_j \end{bmatrix} = 0, \qquad \begin{bmatrix} \tilde{M}_{ij}, \tilde{P}_k \end{bmatrix} = 2\delta_{k[j}\tilde{P}_{i]}, \qquad \begin{bmatrix} \tilde{G}_i, \tilde{Z}_j \end{bmatrix} = -\tilde{Z}_{ij}, \qquad (3.20a)$$

$$\begin{bmatrix} \tilde{H}, \tilde{G}_i \end{bmatrix} = \tilde{P}_i, \qquad \begin{bmatrix} \tilde{M}_{ij}, \tilde{G}_k \end{bmatrix} = 2\delta_{k[j}\tilde{G}_{i]}, \qquad \begin{bmatrix} \tilde{P}_i, \tilde{P}_j \end{bmatrix} = \tilde{Z}_{ij}, \qquad (3.20b)$$

$$\begin{bmatrix} \tilde{H}, \tilde{P}_i \end{bmatrix} = \tilde{Z}_i, \qquad \begin{bmatrix} \tilde{M}_{ij}, \tilde{Z}_k \end{bmatrix} = 2\delta_{k[j}\tilde{Z}_{i]}, \qquad \begin{bmatrix} \tilde{G}_k, \tilde{Z}_{ij} \end{bmatrix} = 0, \qquad (3.20c)$$

$$\left[\tilde{G}_{i},\tilde{G}_{j}\right] = 0, \qquad \left[\tilde{M}_{ij},\tilde{Z}_{kl}\right] = -4\delta_{\left[i\left[l\tilde{Z}_{k}\right]j\right]}.$$
(3.20d)

The infinite-dimensional algebra \mathfrak{M}_{∞} will be constructed as an expansion of the Maxwell algebra by a semigroup $S_E^{(\infty)}$ as follows. We decompose the generators of the Maxwell algebra into [12]

$$V_0 = \{M_{ij}, H\}, \quad V_1 = \{G_i, P_i, Z_i\}, \quad V_2 = \{Z_{ij}\},$$
(3.21)

with

$$[V_0, V_i] \subset V_i, \quad [V_1, V_1] \subset V_0 \oplus V_2, \quad [V_1, V_2] \subset V_1, \quad [V_2, V_2] \subset V_0.$$
(3.22)

A resonant semigroup will be, $S_0^{(\infty)} = \{\lambda_{2m} | m = 0, 1, ...\}, S_1^{(\infty)} = \{\lambda_{2m+1} | m = 0, 1, ...\}$ and $S_2^{(\infty)} = \{\lambda_{2m+2} | m = 0, 1, ...\}$. Defining the new expanded algebra:

$$V_0 \otimes S_0^{(\infty)} \oplus V_1 \otimes S_1^{(\infty)} \oplus V_2 \otimes S_2^{(\infty)}, \qquad (3.23)$$

whose generators are

$$J_{ij}^{(m)} = M_{ij} \otimes \lambda_{2m}, \qquad \qquad H^{(m)} = P_0 \otimes \lambda_{2m}, \qquad \qquad Z_{ij}^{(m)} = Z_{ij} \otimes \lambda_{2m+2}, \qquad (3.24a)$$

$$G_i^{(m)} = M_{0i} \otimes \lambda_{2m+1}, \qquad P_i^{(m)} = P_i \otimes \lambda_{2m+1}, \qquad Z_i^{(m)} = Z_{0i} \otimes \lambda_{2m+1}.$$
 (3.24b)

The expanded algebra will be denoted by \mathfrak{M}_{∞} and has the following commutation relations:

$$\begin{split} [J_{ij}^{(m)}, J_{kl}^{(n)}] &= 4\delta_{[i[k}J_{l]j]}^{(m+n)}, \qquad \begin{bmatrix} J_{ij}^{(m)}, P_{k}^{(n)} \end{bmatrix} = -2\delta_{k[i}P_{j]}^{(m+n)}, \qquad \begin{bmatrix} J_{ij}^{(m)}, Z_{kl}^{(n)} \end{bmatrix} = 4\delta_{[i[k}Z_{l]j]}^{(m+n)}, \\ (3.25a) \\ \\ [J_{ij}^{(m)}, G_{k}^{(n)}] &= -2\delta_{k[i}G_{j]}^{(m+n)}, \qquad \begin{bmatrix} H^{(m)}, G_{i}^{(n)} \end{bmatrix} = P_{i}^{(m+n)}, \qquad \begin{bmatrix} J_{ij}^{(m)}, Z_{k}^{(n)} \end{bmatrix} = 2\delta_{k[j}Z_{i]}^{(m+n)} \\ (3.25b) \\ \\ G_{i}^{(m)}, P_{j}^{(n)} \end{bmatrix} = \delta_{ij}H^{(m+n+1)}, \qquad \begin{bmatrix} G_{i}^{(m)}, G_{j}^{(n)} \end{bmatrix} = J_{ij}^{(m+n+1)}, \qquad \begin{bmatrix} G_{k}^{(m)}, Z_{ij}^{(n)} \end{bmatrix} = 2\delta_{k[i}Z_{j]}^{(m+n+1)}, \\ \\ (3.25c) \\ \\ G_{i}^{(m)}, Z_{j}^{(n)} \end{bmatrix} = Z_{ij}^{(m+n)}, \qquad \begin{bmatrix} H^{(m)}, P_{i}^{(n)} \end{bmatrix} = Z_{i}^{(m+n)}, \qquad \begin{bmatrix} P_{i}^{(m)}, P_{j}^{(n)} \end{bmatrix} = Z_{ij}^{(m+n)}, \\ \\ (3.25d) \\ \\ G_{i}^{(m)}, P_{j}^{(n)} \end{bmatrix} = \delta_{ij}H^{(m+n+1)}, \qquad \begin{bmatrix} H^{(m)}, G_{i}^{(n)} \end{bmatrix} = P_{i}^{(m+n)}, \qquad \begin{bmatrix} G_{k}^{(m)}, Z_{ij}^{(n)} \end{bmatrix} = 2\delta_{k[i}Z_{j]}^{(m+n+1)}, \\ \\ (3.25d) \\ \\ G_{i}^{(m)}, Z_{j}^{(n)} \end{bmatrix} = \delta_{ij}H^{(m+n+1)}, \qquad \begin{bmatrix} H^{(m)}, G_{i}^{(n)} \end{bmatrix} = P_{i}^{(m+n)}, \qquad \begin{bmatrix} G_{k}^{(m)}, Z_{ij}^{(n)} \end{bmatrix} = 2\delta_{k[i}Z_{j]}^{(m+n+1)}, \\ \\ (3.25d) \\ \\ G_{i}^{(m)}, Z_{j}^{(n)} \end{bmatrix} = Z_{ij}^{(m+n)}, \qquad \begin{bmatrix} H^{(m)}, P_{i}^{(n)} \end{bmatrix} = Z_{i}^{(m+n)}, \qquad \begin{bmatrix} G_{k}^{(m)}, P_{ij}^{(n)} \end{bmatrix} = 2\delta_{k[i}Z_{j]}^{(m+n+1)}, \\ \\ (3.25e) \\ \\ \end{bmatrix}$$

One recovers the strict limit of the magnetic Galilei algebra when setting all generators from level $m \ge 1$ to zero.

A dynamical model with this symmetry can be found in the same as for the electric limit. We first set $\lambda_{2m} = c^{-2m}$ and $\lambda_{2m+1} = c^{-2m-1}$ and relabel the generators of the infinite-dimensional magnetic Maxwell algebra \mathfrak{M}_{∞} :

$$H^{(m)} = P_0 \otimes c^{-2m+1}, \qquad P_i^{(m)} = P_i \otimes c^{-2m}, \qquad G_i^{(m)} = M_{0i} \otimes c^{-2m-1}, \qquad (3.26a)$$

$$J_{ij}^{(m)} = M_{ij} \otimes c^{-2m}, \qquad Z_i^{(m)} = Z_{0i} \otimes c^{-2m+1}, \qquad Z_{ij}^{(m)} = Z_{ij} \otimes c^{-2m}.$$
(3.26b)

They satisfy the relations (3.25).

In this the generalised homogeneous space on which \mathfrak{M}_{∞} acts non-linearly is given as the formal coset

$$\exp\mathfrak{M}_{\infty}/\exp\mathfrak{L}_{\infty},\tag{3.27}$$

by quotienting by the generalised Lorentz generators. We introduce in this space the coordinates $x_{(m)}^{i}, t_{(m)}, \theta_{(m)}^{i}, \phi_{(m)}^{ij}$, associated to $P_{i}^{(m)}, H^{(m)}, Z_{i}^{(m)}, Z_{ij}^{(m)}$, respectively. The infinitesimal action of a general element of the \mathfrak{M}_{∞} algebra of the form:

$$\sum_{n=0}^{\infty} \left(\epsilon_{(n)} H^{(n)} + \epsilon_{(n)}^{i} P_{i}^{(n)} + v_{(n)}^{i} G_{i}^{(n)} + \varepsilon_{(n)}^{i} Z_{i}^{(n)} + \varepsilon_{(n)}^{ij} Z_{ij}^{(n)} \right)$$
(3.28)

on the generalised space of coordinates is given by

$$\delta t_{(m)} = \epsilon_{(m)} + \sum_{\substack{n=0\\m}}^{m-1} v_{(m-n-1)}^i x_i^{(n)}, \qquad (3.29a)$$

$$\delta x_{(m)}^{i} = \epsilon_{(m)}^{i} + \sum_{n=0}^{m} v_{(m-n)}^{i} t_{(n)}, \qquad (3.29b)$$

$$\delta\theta^{i}_{(m)} = \varepsilon^{i}_{(m)} + \sum_{n=0}^{m} \frac{1}{2} \epsilon^{i}_{(m-n)} t_{(n)} - \frac{1}{2} \epsilon_{(m-n)} x^{i}_{(n)} - 2v^{k}_{(m-n-1)} \phi^{i}_{k(n)}, \qquad (3.29c)$$

$$\delta\phi_{(m)}^{ij} = \varepsilon_{(m)}^{ij} + \sum_{n=0}^{m} \epsilon_{(m-n)}^{[i} x_{(n)}^{j]} - 2v_{(m-n)}^{[i} \theta_{(n)}^{j]}.$$
(3.29d)

With the collective coordinates

$$X^{i} = \sum_{m=0}^{\infty} c^{-2m} x^{i}_{(m)}, \quad T = \sum_{m=0}^{\infty} c^{-2m} t_{(m)}, \quad \Theta^{i} = \sum_{m=0}^{\infty} c^{-2m+1} \theta^{i}_{(m)}, \quad \Phi^{ij} = \sum_{m=0}^{\infty} c^{-2m} \phi^{ij}_{(m)},$$
$$F_{0i} = \sum_{m=0}^{\infty} c^{-2m-1} f^{(m)}_{0i}, \quad F_{ij} = \sum_{m=0}^{\infty} c^{-2m} f^{(m)}_{ij}.$$
(3.30)

one can expand (3.2) and obtain the first few expanded actions as

$$S_{(0)} = -mc^{2} \int d\tau \left[\dot{t}_{(0)}\right], \qquad (3.31a)$$

$$S_{(1)} = \int d\tau \left\{ -m \left[\dot{t}_{(1)} - \frac{\dot{x}_{(0)}^{2}}{2\dot{t}_{(0)}}\right] - f_{0i}^{(0)} \left(\dot{\theta}_{(0)}^{i} + \frac{1}{2} \left(\dot{t}_{(0)} x_{(0)}^{i} - \dot{x}_{(0)}^{i} t_{(0)}\right)\right) - \frac{1}{2} f_{ij}^{(0)} \left(\dot{\phi}_{(0)}^{ij} + \dot{x}_{(0)}^{[i} x_{(0)}^{j]}\right) \right\}, \qquad (3.31b)$$

$$S_{(2)} = \frac{1}{c^2} \int d\tau \left\{ m \left[-\dot{t}_{(2)} + \frac{\dot{x}_{(0)}^i \dot{x}_{(1)}^j \delta_{ij}}{\dot{t}_{(0)}} - \frac{\dot{t}_{(1)} \dot{x}_{(0)}^2}{2\dot{t}_{(0)}^2} + \frac{\dot{x}_{(0)}^4}{8\dot{t}_{(0)}^3} \right] - f_{0i}^{(1)} \left(\dot{\theta}_{(0)}^i + \frac{1}{2} \left(\dot{t}_{(0)} x_{(0)}^i - \dot{x}_{(0)}^i t_{(0)} \right) \right) - f_{0i}^{(0)} \left(\dot{\theta}_{(1)}^i + \frac{1}{2} \left(\dot{t}_{(1)} x_{(0)}^i + x_{(1)}^i \dot{t}_{(0)} - \dot{x}_{(0)}^i t_{(1)} - t_{(0)} \dot{x}_{(1)}^i \right) \right) - f_{ij}^{(0)} \left(\dot{\phi}_{(1)}^{ij} + \left(\dot{x}_{(1)}^{[i]} x_{(0)}^{j]} + \dot{x}_{(0)}^{[j]} x_{(1)}^{i]} \right) \right) - f_{ij}^{(1)} \left(\dot{\phi}_{(0)}^{ij} + \dot{x}_{(0)}^{[i]} x_{(0)}^{j]} \right) \right\}$$
(3.31c)

Each term in the expansion is invariant under (3.29), if supplemented by

$$\delta f_{0i}^{(m)} = -\sum_{n=0}^{m-1} v_{(n)}^{j} f_{ij}^{(m-n)},$$

$$\delta f_{ij}^{(m)} = 2\sum_{n=0}^{m} v_{[i}^{(n)} f_{0|j]}^{(m-n-1)}.$$
(3.32)

Notice that the transformations in the magnetic limit differ in the summation range from the ones in the electric limit.

The action $S_{(0)}$ is a total derivative and $S_{(1)}$ is the strict magnetic limit of a particle. The equations of motion for $S_{(2)}$ read:

$$m\frac{1}{2}\frac{d}{d\tau}\left(\frac{\dot{x}_{(0)}^2}{\dot{t}_{(0)}^2}\right) = -f_{0i}^{(0)}\dot{x}_{(0)}^i,\tag{3.33a}$$

$$m\frac{d}{d\tau}\left(\frac{\dot{x}_{i}^{(0)}}{\dot{t}_{(0)}}\right) = -f_{0i}^{(0)}\dot{t}_{(0)} + f_{ij}^{(0)}\dot{x}_{(0)}^{j}, \qquad (3.33b)$$

$$m\frac{d}{d\tau}\left(\frac{\dot{\vec{x}}_{(0)}\cdot\dot{\vec{x}}_{(1)}}{\dot{t}_{(0)}^2} - \frac{\dot{t}_{(1)}\dot{\vec{x}}_{(0)}^2}{\dot{t}_{(0)}^3} + \frac{3}{8}\frac{\dot{\vec{x}}_{(0)}^4}{\dot{t}_{(0)}^4}\right) = -f_{0i}^{(1)}\dot{\vec{x}}_{(0)}^i - f_{0i}^{(0)}\dot{\vec{x}}_{(1)}^i,$$
(3.33c)

$$m\frac{d}{d\tau}\left(\frac{\dot{x}_{i(1)}}{\dot{t}_{(0)}} - \frac{\dot{x}_{i(0)}\dot{t}_{(1)}}{\dot{t}_{(0)}^2} + \frac{\dot{x}_{(0)}^2\dot{x}_{i(0)}}{2\dot{t}_{(0)}^3}\right) = -f_{0i}^{(1)}\dot{t}_{(0)} - f_{0i}^{(0)}\dot{t}_{(1)} + f_{ij}^{(0)}\dot{x}_{(1)}^j + f_{ij}^{(1)}\dot{x}_{(0)}^j.$$
(3.33d)

They again coincide with (2.5) after identifying $\tilde{F}_{(m)}^{ti} = f_{(m)}^{0i}$, $F_{(m)}^{ij} = f_{(m)}^{ij}$, which shows agreement between the bottom-up and top-down approach.

The role of the θ^i and ϕ^{ij} variables is twofold. First, they appear in the Lagrangian as Lagrange multipliers to ensure that the new variables $f_{0i}(\tau)$ and $f_{ij}(\tau)$ remain constant onshell. Second, they maintain invariance, as the fields f_{0i} and f_{ij} are the conjugate momenta of θ^i and ϕ^{ij} , and therefore their transformations laws are determined by the latter.

The boost transformations again act indecomposably on the expanded coordinates and fields as well as on the equations of motion.

4 Carroll limit

We can repeat the same analysis for the Carroll limit of a charged particle. In order to have any non-trivial dynamics we consider a Carroll tachyon [26,8] since an ordinary Carroll particle cannot move. The steps are very similar to above and we shall be brief.

4.1 Bottom-up approach

The starting point is the relativistic Lorentz equation (2.1), but now for a tachyon we use Carroll time $s = Cx^0$ in terms of the Carroll speed of light C first introduced in [27, 21]. Note that s has dimensions L^2/T . Moreover, we have used the rescaled Carroll mass \tilde{M} that satisfies $MC = mc = \tilde{M}$ [8]. The separated relativistic equations are

$$\tilde{M}\frac{d}{d\tau}\left(\frac{\dot{s}}{\sqrt{\dot{\vec{x}}^2}\sqrt{1-\frac{\dot{s}^2}{\dot{\vec{x}}^2C^2}}}\right) = C^2\tilde{F}^{si}\dot{x}_i \tag{4.1a}$$

$$\tilde{M}\frac{d}{d\tau}\left(\frac{\dot{x}^{i}}{\sqrt{\dot{x}^{2}}\sqrt{1-\frac{\dot{s}^{2}}{\ddot{x}^{2}C^{2}}}}\right) = \tilde{F}^{si}\dot{s} + F^{ij}\dot{x}_{j}, \qquad (4.1b)$$

where we have introduced $\tilde{F}^{si} = F^{0i}/C$. This definition is hinted at by analogy with the non-relativistic case, where the electric field is defined as $\tilde{F}^{ti} = cF^{0i}$. In the Carroll case we define the electro-magnetic fields as

$$\tilde{F}^{si} = F^{0i}/C = \frac{\tilde{F}^{ti}}{cC}, \ \tilde{F}^{ij} = F^{ij}$$
(4.2)

These definitions are also suggested by the Carrollian electric contraction of the Maxwell algebra that we discuss below in (4.11), where C^{-1} plays the role of the contraction parameter. Even though this definition differs from the one used by [21], it is completely equivalent, as they also satisfy the Carroll version of the Maxwell equations.

The fact that the spatial velocity appears with a positive sign under the square root despite our signature (-+...+) is due to the tachyonic nature of the particle. The equations (4.1) possess full relativistic invariance, although not manifestly so.

In the limit $C \to \infty$, the analogue of the gamma factor expands as

$$\frac{1}{\sqrt{\dot{\vec{x}}^2 - \dot{s}^2/C^2}} = \frac{1}{\sqrt{\dot{\vec{x}}^2}} + \frac{\dot{\vec{s}}^2}{2C^2\dot{\vec{x}}^2\sqrt{\dot{\vec{x}}^2}} + \frac{3\dot{\vec{s}}^4}{8C^4(\dot{\vec{x}}^2)^2\sqrt{\dot{\vec{x}}^2}} + \dots$$
(4.3)

We also consider an expansion of the coordinates and of the electro-magnetic field according to

$$s = \sum_{m=0}^{\infty} s_{(m)} C^{-2m}, \qquad \qquad x^{i} = \sum_{m=0}^{\infty} x_{(m)}^{i} C^{-2m}, \qquad (4.4a)$$

$$\tilde{F}^{si} = \sum_{m=0}^{\infty} \tilde{F}^{si}_{(m)} C^{-2m} , \qquad \qquad F^{ij} = \sum_{m=0}^{\infty} F^{ij}_{(m)} C^{-2m} . \qquad (4.4b)$$

Substituting this into (4.1) we obtain in the lowest orders in $1/C^2$:

$$\tilde{F}_{(0)}^{si}\dot{x}_{(0)i} = 0, \tag{4.5a}$$

$$\tilde{M}\frac{d}{d\tau}\left(\frac{\dot{x}_{(0)}^{i}}{\sqrt{\dot{x}_{(0)}^{2}}}\right) = \tilde{F}_{(0)}^{si}\dot{s}_{(0)} + F_{(0)}^{ij}\dot{x}_{(0)j}\,, \qquad (4.5b)$$

$$\tilde{M}\frac{d}{d\tau}\left(\frac{\dot{s}_{(0)}}{\sqrt{\dot{x}_{(0)}^2}}\right) = \tilde{F}_{(0)}^{si}\dot{x}_{(1)i} + \tilde{F}_{(1)}^{si}\dot{x}_{(0)i}, \qquad (4.5c)$$

$$\tilde{M}\frac{d}{d\tau}\left(\frac{\dot{x}_{(1)}^{i}}{\sqrt{\dot{x}_{(0)}^{2}}} - \frac{\dot{x}_{(0)}^{i}\dot{\vec{x}}_{(0)}\cdot\dot{\vec{x}}_{(1)}}{\dot{\vec{x}}_{(0)}^{2}\sqrt{\dot{x}_{(0)}^{2}}} + \frac{\dot{x}_{(0)}^{i}\dot{\vec{s}}_{(0)}^{2}}{2\dot{\vec{x}}_{(0)}^{2}\sqrt{\dot{\vec{x}}_{(0)}^{2}}}\right) = \tilde{F}_{(1)}^{si}\dot{s}_{(0)} + \tilde{F}_{(0)}^{si}\dot{s}_{(1)} + F_{(1)}^{ij}\dot{x}_{(0)j} + F_{(0)}^{ij}\dot{x}_{(1)j},$$

$$(4.5d)$$

$$M\frac{d}{d\tau}\left(\frac{\dot{s}_{(1)}}{\sqrt{\dot{x}_{(0)}^2}} - \frac{\dot{s}_{(0)}\dot{\vec{x}}_{(0)}}{\dot{\vec{x}}_{(0)}^2\sqrt{\dot{x}_{(0)}^2}} + \frac{\dot{s}_{(0)}^3}{2\dot{\vec{x}}_{(0)}^2\sqrt{\dot{x}_{(0)}^2}}\right) = \tilde{F}_{(0)}^{si}\dot{x}_{(2)i} + \tilde{F}_{(1)}^{si}\dot{x}_{(1)i} + \tilde{F}_{(2)}^{si}\dot{x}_{(0)i}.$$
(4.5e)

Note how as in the Galilei case, the different level equations are related via boosts as

$$\dots \xrightarrow{\beta_{(2)}^{i}} (4.5e) \xrightarrow{\beta_{(1)}^{i}} (4.5d) \xrightarrow{\beta_{(1)}^{i}} (4.5c) \xrightarrow{\beta_{(0)}^{i}} (4.5b) \xrightarrow{\beta_{(0)}^{i}} (4.5a) \xrightarrow{\beta_{(0)}^{i}} 0.$$
(4.6)

This also justifies the presence of the first equation (4.5a), arising at order C^2 in the limit of (4.1), that might be surprising at first sight since it is not a second-order differential equation but a transversality constraint.

We consider the electric and magnetic limits of the electro-magnetic field.⁶ Translating them in terms of the Carroll electric and magnetic fields (4.2):

$$\mathbf{E}_{\text{Galilei}} \gg c \mathbf{B}_{\text{Galilei}} \iff \mathbf{B}_{\text{Carroll}} \ll C \mathbf{E}_{\text{Carroll}}.$$
(4.7)

The magnetic field was naturally greater in the non-relativistic limit, whereas the electric field is the bigger one in the Carroll limit, hinting at a duality between the Carroll and Galilei limits. We will come back to this duality in Section 5.

4.1.1 Electric Carroll limit

The electric limit can be implemented in our expansion by keeping $\tilde{F}_{(0)}^{si} \neq 0$ since $\tilde{F}_{(0)}^{si} \gg F_{(0)}^{ij}/C$, whereas the magnetic limit will correspond to $F_{(0)}^{ij} \neq 0$ and $\tilde{F}_{(0)}^{si} = 0$.

The equations of motion in the electric limit are formally the same as (4.5). The first equation says that at the first level, the motion of the tachyon is perpendicular to the electric field. Note that this restriction is similar to a non-relativistic particle which moves perpendicular to the magnetic field.

They are invariant under the following transformations of the coordinates as well as the fields:

$$\delta s_{(n)} = \epsilon_{(n)} + \sum_{m=0}^{n} \vec{\beta}_{(m)} \cdot \vec{x}_{(n-m)}, \qquad \delta x_{(n)}^{i} = \epsilon_{(n)}^{i} + \sum_{m=0}^{n-1} \beta_{(m)}^{i} s_{(n-m-1)}, \\ \delta \tilde{F}_{(n)}^{si} = \sum_{m=0}^{n-1} \beta_{(m)j} F_{(n-m-1)}^{ji}, \qquad \delta F_{(n)}^{ij} = -2 \sum_{m=0}^{n} \tilde{F}_{(m)}^{s[i]} \beta_{(n-m)}^{j]}, \qquad (4.8)$$

where we have defined the Carroll boost $\beta^i = Cv^i/c$ and have performed an expansion $\beta^i = \sum_{m=0}^{\infty} \beta^i_{(m)} C^{-2m}$.

4.1.2 Magnetic Carroll limit

The equations in the magnetic limit read:

$$\tilde{M}\frac{d}{d\tau}\left(\frac{\dot{s}_{(0)}}{\sqrt{\dot{\vec{x}}_{(0)}^2}}\right) = \tilde{F}_{(1)}^{si}\dot{x}_{(0)i}, \qquad (4.9a)$$

$$\tilde{M}\frac{d}{d\tau}\left(\frac{\dot{x}_{(0)}^{i}}{\sqrt{\dot{x}_{(0)}^{2}}}\right) = F_{(0)}^{ij}\dot{x}_{(0)j}, \qquad (4.9b)$$

⁶One could also consider a pulse limit. This would require a 1/C expansion that proceeds very similarly to the Galilei case in Appendix A and that we do not spell out.

$$M\frac{d}{d\tau}\left(\frac{\dot{s}_{(1)}}{\sqrt{\dot{x}_{(0)}^2}} - \frac{\dot{s}_{(0)}\dot{x}_{(0)}}{\dot{x}_{(0)}^2} + \frac{\dot{s}_{(0)}^3}{2\dot{x}_{(0)}^2}\right) = \tilde{F}_{(1)}^{si}\dot{x}_{(1)i} + \tilde{F}_{(2)}^{si}\dot{x}_{(0)i}, \qquad (4.9c)$$

$$\tilde{M}\frac{d}{d\tau}\left(\frac{\dot{x}_{(1)}^{i}}{\sqrt{\dot{x}_{(0)}^{2}}} - \frac{\dot{x}_{(0)}^{i}\dot{\bar{x}}_{(0)}\cdot\dot{\bar{x}}_{(1)}}{\dot{\bar{x}}_{(0)}^{2}\sqrt{\dot{x}_{(0)}^{2}}} + \frac{\dot{x}_{(0)}^{i}\dot{s}_{(0)}^{2}}{2\dot{\bar{x}}_{(0)}^{2}\sqrt{\dot{\bar{x}}_{(0)}^{2}}}\right) = \tilde{F}_{(1)}^{si}\dot{s}_{(0)} + F_{(1)}^{ij}\dot{x}_{(0)j} + F_{(0)}^{ij}\dot{x}_{(1)j}.$$
(4.9d)

These are instead invariant under

$$\delta s_{(n)} = \epsilon_{(n)} + \sum_{m=0}^{n} \vec{\beta}_{(m)} \cdot \vec{x}_{(n-m)}, \qquad \delta x_{(n)}^{i} = \epsilon_{(n)}^{i} + \sum_{m=0}^{n-1} \beta_{(m)}^{i} s_{(n-m-1)}, \\ \delta \tilde{F}_{(n)}^{si} = \sum_{m=0}^{n} \beta_{(m)j} F_{(n-m)}^{ji}, \qquad \delta F_{(n)}^{ij} = -2 \sum_{m=0}^{n-1} \tilde{F}_{(m)}^{s[i} \beta_{(n-m-1)}^{j]}. \qquad (4.10)$$

They differ from (4.8) in summation ranges.

4.2 Lie algebraic point of view

In this section, we present the details of the expansion of Maxwell algebra in the different Carrollian limits. We also study the equations of motion in the top-down approach.

4.2.1 Electric Carroll Maxwell

The electric limit can be obtained via a contraction of the Maxwell algebra (3.1), see [22]:

$$\tilde{M}_{ij} = M_{ij}, \qquad \tilde{G}_i = \frac{1}{\omega} M_{i0},
\tilde{H} = \frac{1}{\omega} P_0, \qquad \tilde{P}_i = P_i,
\tilde{Z}_{ij} = Z_{ij}, \qquad \tilde{Z}_i = \frac{1}{\omega} Z_{0i} \qquad (4.11)$$

and taking the limit $\omega \to \infty$, the contracted commutation relations become

$$\begin{bmatrix} \tilde{G}_i, \tilde{P}_j \end{bmatrix} = \delta_{ij} \tilde{H}, \qquad \begin{bmatrix} \tilde{M}_{ij}, \tilde{P}_k \end{bmatrix} = 2\delta_{k[j} \tilde{P}_{i]}, \qquad \begin{bmatrix} \tilde{G}_i, \tilde{Z}_j \end{bmatrix} = 0, \qquad (4.12a)$$

$$\begin{bmatrix} \tilde{H}, \tilde{G}_i \end{bmatrix} = 0, \qquad \begin{bmatrix} \tilde{M}_{ij}, \tilde{G}_k \end{bmatrix} = 2\delta_{k[j}\tilde{G}_{i]}, \qquad \begin{bmatrix} \tilde{P}_i, \tilde{P}_j \end{bmatrix} = \tilde{Z}_{ij}, \qquad (4.12b)$$

$$\begin{bmatrix} \tilde{H}, \tilde{P}_i \end{bmatrix} = \tilde{Z}_i, \qquad \begin{bmatrix} \tilde{M}_{ij}, \tilde{Z}_k \end{bmatrix} = 2\delta_{k[j}\tilde{Z}_{i]}, \qquad \begin{bmatrix} \tilde{G}_k, \tilde{Z}_{ij} \end{bmatrix} = 2\delta_{k[i}\tilde{Z}_{j]}, \qquad (4.12c)$$

$$\left[\tilde{G}_{i},\tilde{G}_{j}\right] = 0, \qquad \left[\tilde{M}_{ij},\tilde{Z}_{kl}\right] = -4\delta_{\left[i\left[l\tilde{Z}_{k}\right]j\right]}. \tag{4.12d}$$

For applying the expansion method to the electric Carroll we use the following division into subspaces [25]

$$V_0 = \{J_{ij}, P_i, Z_{ij}\}, \qquad V_1 = \{G_i, H, Z_i\}.$$
(4.13)

Then we define the generators

$$J_{ij}^{(m)} = M_{ij} \otimes C^{-2m}, \qquad H^{(m)} = P_0 \otimes C^{-2m-1}, \qquad Z_{ij}^{(m)} = Z_{ij} \otimes C^{-2m}, G_i^{(m)} = M_{0i} \otimes C^{-2m-1}, \qquad P_i^{(m)} = P_i \otimes C^{-2m}, \qquad Z_i^{(m)} = Z_{0i} \otimes C^{-2m-1}.$$
(4.14)

The commutation relations of the infinite-dimensional algebra are

$$\begin{bmatrix} G_i^{(m)}, H^{(n)} \end{bmatrix} = P_i^{(m+n+1)}, \qquad \begin{bmatrix} G_i^{(m)}, P_j^{(n)} \end{bmatrix} = \delta_{ij} H^{(m+n)}, \qquad (4.15a)$$

$$\begin{bmatrix} J_{ij}^{(m)}, P_k^{(n)} \end{bmatrix} = 2\delta_{k[j}P_{i]}^{(m+n)}, \qquad \begin{bmatrix} G_i^{(m)}, G_j^{(n)} \end{bmatrix} = J_{ij}^{(m+n+1)}, \qquad (4.15b)$$

$$[J_{ij}^{(m)}, J_{kl}^{(m)}] = 2\delta_{k[j}G_{i]}^{(m+n)}, \qquad [J_{ij}^{(m)}, J_{kl}^{(n)}] = 4\delta_{[i[k}J_{l]j]}^{(m+n)}, \qquad (4.15c)$$

$$\begin{bmatrix} J_{ij}^{(m)}, G_k^{(n)} \end{bmatrix} = 2\delta_{k[j}G_{i]}^{(m+n)}, \qquad \begin{bmatrix} J_{ij}^{(m)}, J_{kl}^{(n)} \end{bmatrix} = 4\delta_{[i[k}J_{l]j]}^{(m+n)}, \qquad (4.15c)$$

$$\begin{bmatrix} J_{ij}^{(m)}, Z_{kl}^{(n)} \end{bmatrix} = 4\delta_{[i[k}Z_{l]j]}^{(m+n)}, \qquad \begin{bmatrix} J_{ij}^{(m)}, Z_k^{(n)} \end{bmatrix} = 2\delta_{k[j}Z_{i]}^{(m+n)}, \qquad (4.15d)$$

$$\begin{bmatrix} Z^{(m)}, G^{(n)} \end{bmatrix} = 2\delta_{k[j]}Z_{i]}^{(m+n)}, \qquad \begin{bmatrix} G^{(m)}, Z^{(n)} \end{bmatrix} = Z_{k[j]}^{(m+n)}, \qquad (4.15d)$$

$$\begin{bmatrix} Z_{ij}^{(m)}, G_k^{(m)} \end{bmatrix} = Z_{ij}^{(m+n)}, \qquad \begin{bmatrix} Q_i^{(m)}, Z_j^{(m)} \end{bmatrix} = Z_{ij}^{(m+n)}, \qquad (4.15f)$$

$$\begin{bmatrix} P_i^{(m)}, P_j^{(n)} \end{bmatrix} = Z_{ij}^{(m+n)}. \qquad (4.15f)$$

The dimensions of the various generators are: $[H^{(0)}] = TL^{-2}$ dual to s, $[P_i^{(0)}] = L^{-1}$, $[G_i^{(0)}] = TL^{-1}$, dual to Carroll boosts, β_{Carroll}^i , $[J_{ij}^{(0)}] = 1$, $[Z_i^{(0)}] = L^{-3}T$ and $Z_{ij}^{(0)} = L^{-2}$. We define local coordinates $x_{(m)}^i$, $s_{(m)}$, $\theta_{(m)}^i$ and $\phi_{(m)}^{ij}$ dual to $P_i^{(m)}$, $H^{(m)}$, $Z_i^{(m)}$, $Z_{ij}^{(m)}$ and means them into the collection coordinates.

group them into the collective coordinates:

$$X^{i} = \sum_{m=0}^{\infty} C^{-2m} x^{i}_{(m)}, \quad S = \sum_{m=0}^{\infty} C^{-2m} s_{(m)}, \quad \Theta^{i} = \sum_{m=0}^{\infty} C^{-2m-1} \theta^{i}_{(m)}, \quad \Phi^{ij} = \sum_{m=0}^{\infty} C^{-2m} \phi^{ij}_{(m)},$$
$$F_{0i} = \sum_{m} C^{-2m+1} f^{(m)}_{0i}, \quad F_{ij} = \sum_{m} C^{-2m} f^{(m)}_{ij}, \quad (4.16)$$

such that $[\Theta^i] = L^2$ and the field $f_{0i}^{(m)}$ has dimensions of \tilde{F}^{si}/C^{2m} and $f_{ij}^{(m)}$ has dimensions F^{ij}/C^{2m} .

Expanding the action

$$S_{\text{tachyon}} = \int d\tau \left\{ -\tilde{M} \left[\sqrt{\dot{\vec{X}}^2 - \dot{S}^2 / C^2} \right] - \frac{1}{2} F_{\mu\nu} \Omega^{\mu\nu} \right\}$$
(4.17)

of a Carroll tachyon in a constant electro-magnetic background, we get

$$S_{(0)} = -\int d\tau \left\{ \tilde{M} \sqrt{\dot{\vec{x}}_{(0)}^2} - f_{0i}^{(0)} \left(\dot{\theta}_{(0)}^i + \frac{1}{2} \left[\dot{s}_{(0)} x_{(0)}^i - \dot{x}_{(0)}^i s_{(0)} \right] \right) - \frac{1}{2} f_{ij}^{(0)} \left(\dot{\phi}_{(0)}^{ij} + \dot{x}_{(0)}^{[i} x_{(0)}^{j]} \right) \right\},$$

$$(4.18a)$$

$$\begin{split} S_{(1)} &= -\frac{1}{C^2} \int d\tau \Biggl\{ \tilde{M} \Biggl[-\frac{\dot{s}_{(0)}^2}{2\sqrt{\dot{x}_{(0)}^2}} + \frac{\dot{\vec{x}}_{(0)} \cdot \dot{\vec{x}}_{(1)}}{\sqrt{\dot{x}_{(0)}^2}} \Biggr] - f_{0i}^{(1)} \left(\dot{\theta}_{(0)}^i + \frac{1}{2} \Biggl[\dot{s}_{(0)} x_{(0)}^i - \dot{x}_{(0)}^i s_{(0)} \Biggr] \right) \\ &- \frac{1}{2} f_{ij}^{(1)} \left(\dot{\phi}_{(0)}^{ij} + \dot{x}_{(0)}^{[i} x_{(0)}^{j]} \right) \\ &- f_{0i}^{(0)} \left(\dot{\theta}_{(1)}^i + \frac{1}{2} \Biggl[\dot{s}_{(1)} x_{(0)}^i + \dot{s}_{(0)} x_{(1)}^i - \dot{x}_{(1)}^i s_{(0)} - \dot{x}_{(0)}^i s_{(1)} \Biggr] \right) \,, \end{split}$$

$$-\frac{1}{2}f_{ij}^{(0)}\left(\dot{\phi}_{(1)}^{ij} + \dot{x}_{(1)}^{[i}x_{(0)}^{j]} + \dot{x}_{(0)}^{[i}x_{(1)}^{j]}\right)\right\}$$
(4.18b)

$$S_{(2)} = -\frac{1}{C^4} \int d\tau \left\{ \tilde{M} \left[\frac{\dot{s}_{(0)}^4}{8\sqrt{\dot{x}_{(0)}^2} \dot{x}_{(0)}^2} - \frac{\left(\dot{\vec{x}}_{(0)} \cdot \dot{\vec{x}}_{(1)}\right)^2}{2\sqrt{\dot{\vec{x}}_{(0)}^2} \dot{\vec{x}}_{(0)}^2} + \frac{\dot{s}_{(0)}^2 \dot{\vec{x}}_{(0)} \cdot \dot{\vec{x}}_{(1)}}{2\sqrt{\dot{\vec{x}}_{(0)}^2} \dot{\vec{x}}_{(0)}^2} + \frac{2\dot{s}_{(0)} \dot{s}_{(1)} - \dot{\vec{x}}_{(1)}^2 - 2\dot{\vec{x}}_{(0)} \cdot \dot{\vec{x}}_{(2)}}{2\sqrt{\dot{\vec{x}}_{(0)}^2}} \right] - f_{0i}^{(2)} \left(\dot{\theta}_{(0)}^i + \frac{1}{2} \left[\dot{s}_{(0)} x_{(0)}^i - \dot{x}_{(0)}^i s_{(0)} \right] \right) - \frac{1}{2} f_{ij}^{(2)} \left(\dot{\phi}_{(0)}^{ij} + \dot{x}_{(0)}^{[i} x_{(0)}^j] + \dots \right) \right\}$$

$$(4.18c)$$

Let us also consider the equations of motion. The ones implied by $S_{\left(0\right)}$ are:

$$\delta s_{(0)}: \qquad \qquad f_{0i}^{(0)} \dot{x}_{(0)i} = 0, \qquad (4.19a)$$

$$\delta x_{(0)}^{i}: \qquad \tilde{M} \frac{d}{d\tau} \left[\frac{\dot{x}_{(0)}^{i}}{\sqrt{\dot{x}_{(0)}^{2}}} \right] = -f_{0i}^{(0)} \dot{s}_{(0)} + f_{ij}^{(0)} \dot{x}_{(0)}^{j}, \qquad (4.19b)$$

$$\delta\theta^{i}_{(0)}: \qquad \qquad \frac{d}{d\tau}f^{(0)}_{0i} = 0, \qquad (4.19c)$$

$$\delta \phi_{(0)}^{ij}: \qquad \qquad \frac{d}{d\tau} f_{ij}^{(0)} = 0.$$
 (4.19d)

The (new) dynamical equations implied by $S_{\left(1\right)}$ are:

$$\delta x_{(0)}^{i}: \quad \tilde{M}\frac{d}{d\tau} \left[\frac{\dot{x}_{(0)}^{i}\dot{s}_{(0)}^{2}}{2\sqrt{\dot{x}_{(0)}^{2}\dot{x}_{(0)}^{2}}} + \frac{\dot{x}_{(1)}^{i}}{\sqrt{\dot{x}_{(0)}^{2}}} - \frac{\dot{\ddot{x}}_{(0)}\cdot\dot{\vec{x}}_{(1)}^{i}\dot{x}_{(0)}^{i}}{\dot{\vec{x}}_{(0)}^{2}\sqrt{\dot{\vec{x}}_{(0)}^{2}}} \right] = -f_{0i}^{(1)}\dot{s}_{(0)} - f_{0i}^{(0)}\dot{s}_{(1)} + f_{ij}^{(1)}\dot{x}_{(0)}^{j} + f_{ij}^{(0)}\dot{x}_{(1)}^{j},$$

$$(4.20a)$$

$$\delta s_{(0)}: \qquad \qquad \tilde{M} \frac{d}{d\tau} \left[\frac{\dot{s}_{(0)}}{\sqrt{\dot{x}_{(0)}^2}} \right] = -f_{0i}^{(1)} \dot{x}_{(0)}^i - f_{0i}^{(0)} \dot{x}_{(1)}^i \,, \qquad (4.20b)$$

$$\delta\theta^{i}_{(0)}:$$
 $\frac{d}{d\tau}f^{(1)}_{0i} = 0,$ (4.20c)

$$\delta \phi_{(0)}^{ij}: \qquad \qquad \frac{d}{d\tau} f_{ij}^{(1)} = 0.$$
(4.20d)

We see that they agree with (4.5). Under a general element of the algebra

$$\sum_{n=0}^{\infty} \left(\epsilon_{(n)} H^{(n)} + \epsilon_{(n)}^{i} P_{i}^{(n)} + \beta_{(n)}^{i} G_{i}^{(n)} + \varepsilon_{(n)}^{i} Z_{i}^{(n)} + \varepsilon_{(n)}^{ij} Z_{ij}^{(n)} \right)$$
(4.21)

the coordinates, dual to the generators defined in (4.14), transform as:

$$\delta s_{(m)} = \epsilon_{(m)} + \sum_{n=0}^{m} \beta_{(m-n)}^{i} x_{i}^{(n)}, \qquad (4.22a)$$

$$\delta x_{(m)}^{i} = \epsilon_{(m)}^{i} + \sum_{n=0}^{m-1} \beta_{(m-n-1)}^{i} s_{(n)}, \qquad (4.22b)$$

$$\delta\theta^{i}_{(m)} = \varepsilon^{i}_{(m)} + \sum_{n=0}^{m} \frac{1}{2} \epsilon^{i}_{(m-n)} s_{(n)} - \frac{1}{2} \epsilon_{(m-n)} x^{i}_{(n)} - 2\beta^{k}_{(m-n)} \phi^{i}_{k(n)}, \qquad (4.22c)$$

$$\delta\phi_{(m)}^{ij} = \varepsilon_{(m)}^{ij} + \sum_{n}^{m} \epsilon_{(m-n)}^{[i} x_{(n)}^{j]} - 2\beta_{(m-n-1)}^{[i} \theta_{(n)}^{j]}.$$
(4.22d)

For invariance of the action we also demand that the fields $f_{0i}^{(m)}$ and $f_{ij}^{(m)}$ transform under boosts as:

$$\delta f_{0i}^{(m)} = -\sum_{n=0}^{m-1} \beta_{(m-n-1)}^j f_{ij}^{(n)}, \qquad (4.23a)$$

$$\delta f_{ij}^{(m)} = -2\sum_{n=0}^{m} \beta_{[i}^{(m-n)} f_{0|j]}^{(n)}.$$
(4.23b)

After raising/lowering indices, and identifying $f_{(m)}^{0i} = \tilde{F}_{(m)}^{si}$, $f_{(m)}^{ij} = F_{(m)}^{ij}$, we see that the results from the bottom-up approach are successfully reproduced by the top-down analysis.

4.2.2 Magnetic Carroll Maxwell

In the magnetic limit we perform the contraction of the Maxwell algebra according to:

$$\widetilde{M}_{ij} = M_{ij}, \qquad \widetilde{G}_i = \frac{1}{\omega} M_{i0},
\widetilde{H} = \frac{1}{\omega} P_0, \qquad \widetilde{P}_i = P_i,
\widetilde{Z}_{ij} = Z_{ij}, \qquad \widetilde{Z}_i = \omega Z_{0i}.$$
(4.24)

The commutation relations after sending $\omega \to \infty$ become

$$\begin{bmatrix} \tilde{G}_i, \tilde{P}_j \end{bmatrix} = \delta_{ij} \tilde{H}, \qquad \begin{bmatrix} \tilde{M}_{ij}, \tilde{P}_k \end{bmatrix} = 2\delta_{k[j} \tilde{P}_{i]}, \qquad \begin{bmatrix} \tilde{G}_i, \tilde{Z}_j \end{bmatrix} = \tilde{Z}_{ij}, \qquad (4.25a)$$

$$\begin{bmatrix} H, \tilde{G}_i \end{bmatrix} = 0, \qquad \begin{bmatrix} \tilde{M}_{ij}, \tilde{G}_k \end{bmatrix} = 2\delta_{k[j}\tilde{G}_{i]}, \qquad \begin{bmatrix} \tilde{P}_i, \tilde{P}_j \end{bmatrix} = \tilde{Z}_{ij}, \qquad (4.25b)$$

$$\begin{bmatrix} \tilde{H}, \tilde{P}_i \end{bmatrix} = 0, \qquad \begin{bmatrix} \tilde{M}_{ij}, \tilde{Z}_k \end{bmatrix} = 2\delta_{k[j}\tilde{Z}_{i]}, \qquad \begin{bmatrix} \tilde{G}_k, \tilde{Z}_{ij} \end{bmatrix} = 0, \qquad (4.25c)$$

$$\left[\tilde{G}_{i},\tilde{G}_{j}\right] = 0, \qquad \left[\tilde{M}_{ij},\tilde{Z}_{kl}\right] = -4\delta_{[i[l}\tilde{Z}_{k]j]}. \qquad (4.25d)$$

For the expansion of the magnetic Carroll, we consider the grading

$$V_0 = \{J_{ij}\}, \qquad V_1 = \{G_i, P_i, Z_i\}, \qquad V_2 = \{H, Z_{ij}\} \qquad (4.26)$$

and the usual semigroups $S_0^{(\infty)}, S_1^{(\infty)}, S_2^{(\infty)}$, such that we have the following generators:

$$J_{ij}^{(m)} = M_{ij} \otimes \lambda_{2m}, \qquad H^{(m)} = P_0 \otimes \lambda_{2m+2}, \qquad Z_{ij}^{(m)} = Z_{ij} \otimes \lambda_{2m+2}, \qquad (4.27a)$$

$$G_i^{(m)} = M_{0i} \otimes \lambda_{2m+1}, \qquad P_i^{(m)} = P_i \otimes \lambda_{2m+1}, \qquad Z_i^{(m)} = Z_{0i} \otimes \lambda_{2m+1}.$$
 (4.27b)

The commutation relations are:

$$\begin{bmatrix} G_i^{(m)}, H^{(n)} \end{bmatrix} = P_i^{(m+n+1)} \qquad \begin{bmatrix} G_i^{(m)}, P_j^{(n)} \end{bmatrix} = \delta_{ij} H^{(m+n)}, \qquad (4.28a)$$

$$\begin{bmatrix} m \\ j \end{bmatrix} P_{k}^{(n)} = 2\delta_{k[j}P_{i]}^{(m+n)} \qquad \begin{bmatrix} G_{i}^{(m)}, G_{j}^{(n)} \end{bmatrix} = J_{ij}^{(m+n+1)}, \qquad (4.28b)$$

$$\begin{bmatrix} J_{ij}^{(m)}, P_k^{(n)} \end{bmatrix} = 2\delta_{k[j}P_{i]}^{(m+n)} \qquad \begin{bmatrix} G_i^{(m)}, G_j^{(n)} \end{bmatrix} = J_{ij}^{(m+n+1)}, \qquad (4.28b)$$

$$\begin{bmatrix} J_{ij}^{(m)}, G_k^{(n)} \end{bmatrix} = 2\delta_{k[j}G_{i]}^{(m+n)} \qquad \begin{bmatrix} J_{ij}^{(m)}, J_{kl}^{(n)} \end{bmatrix} = 4\delta_{[i[k}J_{l]j]}^{(m+n)}, \qquad (4.28c)$$

$$\begin{bmatrix} I_{ij}^{(m)}, Z_{ij}^{(n)} \end{bmatrix} = 4\delta_{ii[k}Z_{l]j]}^{(m+n)}, \qquad (4.28d)$$

$$\begin{bmatrix} J_{ij} & , Z_{kl} \end{bmatrix} = 4\delta_{[i[k}Z_{l]j]} , \qquad \begin{bmatrix} J_{ij} & , Z_{k} \end{bmatrix} = 2\delta_{k[j}Z_{i]} , \qquad (4.280)$$
$$\begin{bmatrix} Z_{ij}^{(m)}, G_{k}^{(n)} \end{bmatrix} = 2\delta_{k[j}Z_{i]}^{(m+n+1)}, \qquad \begin{bmatrix} G_{i}^{(m)}, Z_{j}^{(n)} \end{bmatrix} = Z_{ij}^{(m+n)}, \qquad (4.28e)$$

$$\begin{bmatrix} P_i^{(m)}, H^{(n)} \end{bmatrix} = -Z_i^{(m+n+1)}, \qquad \begin{bmatrix} P_i^{(m)}, P_j^{(n)} \end{bmatrix} = Z_{ij}^{(m+n)}.$$
(4.28f)

Introducing $\lambda_{2m} = C^{-2m}$ and $\lambda_{2m+1} = C^{-2m-1}$, and choosing appropriate units, we define the following generators:

$$J_{ij}^{(m)} = M_{ij} \otimes C^{-2m}, \qquad H^{(m)} = P_0 \otimes C^{-2m-1}, \qquad Z_{ij}^{(m)} = Z_{ij} \otimes C^{-2m}, \qquad (4.29a)$$

$$G_i^{(m)} = M_{0i} \otimes C^{-2m-1}, \qquad P_i^{(m)} = P_i \otimes C^{-2m}, \qquad Z_i^{(m)} = Z_{0i} \otimes C^{-2m+1}.$$
 (4.29b)

Define the following collective coordinates:

$$X^{i} = \sum_{m=0}^{\infty} C^{-2m} x^{i}_{(m)}, \quad S = \sum_{m=0}^{\infty} C^{-2m} s_{(m)}, \quad \Theta^{i} = \sum_{m=0}^{\infty} C^{-2m+1} \theta^{i}_{(m)}, \quad \Phi^{ij} = \sum_{m=0}^{\infty} C^{-2m} \phi^{ij}_{(m)},$$
$$F_{0i} = \sum_{m} C^{-2m-1} f^{(m)}_{0i}, \quad F_{ij} = \sum_{m} C^{-2m} f^{(m)}_{ij}. \tag{4.30}$$

In this way, $f_{0i}^{(m)}$ has dimensions of \tilde{F}^{si}/C^{2m+2} , and $f_{ij}^{(m)}$ has dimensions of F^{ij}/C^{2m} . The expansion of the action (4.17) now becomes:

$$S_{(0)} = -\int d\tau \left\{ \tilde{M} \sqrt{\dot{x}_{(0)}^2} - f_{0i}^{(0)} \theta_{(0)}^i - \frac{1}{2} f_{ij}^{(0)} \left(\dot{\phi}_{(0)}^{ij} + \dot{x}_{(0)}^{[i]} x_{(0)}^{j]} \right) \right\},$$
(4.31a)

$$S_{(1)} = -\frac{1}{C^2} \int d\tau \left\{ \tilde{M} \left[-\frac{\dot{s}_{(0)}^2}{2\sqrt{\dot{x}_{(0)}^2}} + \frac{\dot{x}_{(0)} \cdot \dot{x}_{(1)}}{\sqrt{\dot{x}_{(0)}^2}} \right] - f_{0i}^{(0)} \left(\dot{\theta}_{(1)}^i + \frac{1}{2} \left[\dot{s}_{(0)} x_{(0)}^i - \dot{x}_{(0)}^i s_{(0)} \right] \right) - \frac{1}{2} f_{ij}^{(1)} \left(\dot{\phi}_{(0)}^{ij} + \dot{x}_{(0)}^{[i]} x_{(0)}^{j]} \right) - \frac{1}{2} f_{ij}^{(0)} \left(\dot{\phi}_{(1)}^{ij} + \dot{x}_{(1)}^{[i]} x_{(0)}^{j]} + \dot{x}_{(0)}^{[i]} x_{(1)}^{j]} \right) - f_{0i}^{(1)} \dot{\theta}_{(0)}^i \right\},$$
(4.31b)

$$S_{(2)} = -\frac{1}{C^4} \int d\tau \left\{ \tilde{M} \left[\frac{\dot{s}_{(0)}^4}{8\sqrt{\dot{x}_{(0)}^2 \dot{x}_{(0)}^2}} - \frac{\left(\dot{\vec{x}}_{(0)} \cdot \dot{\vec{x}}_{(1)}\right)^2}{2\sqrt{\dot{x}_{(0)}^2 \dot{x}_{(0)}^2}} + \frac{\dot{s}_{(0)}^2 \dot{\vec{x}}_{(0)} \cdot \dot{\vec{x}}_{(1)}}{2\sqrt{\dot{x}_{(0)}^2 \dot{x}_{(0)}^2}} + \frac{2\dot{s}_{(0)} \dot{s}_{(1)} - \dot{\vec{x}}_{(1)}^2 - 2\dot{\vec{x}}_{(0)} \cdot \dot{\vec{x}}_{(2)}}{2\sqrt{\dot{x}_{(0)}^2}} \right] - f_{0i}^{(2)} \left(\dot{\theta}_{(0)}^i + \frac{1}{2} \left[\dot{s}_{(1)} x_{(0)}^i + \dot{s}_{(0)} x_{(1)}^i - \dot{x}_{(1)}^i s_{(0)} - \dot{x}_{(0)}^i s_{(1)}\right] \right) - \frac{1}{2} f_{ij}^{(2)} \left(\dot{\phi}_{(0)}^{ij} + \dot{x}_{(0)}^{[i} x_{(0)}^{j]} \right) + \dots \right\}.$$

$$(4.31c)$$

The equations of motion for $S_{(0)}$ are:

$$\delta x_{(0)}^{i}: \qquad \tilde{M} \frac{d}{d\tau} \left[\frac{\dot{x}_{i(0)}}{\sqrt{\dot{x}_{(0)}^{2}}} \right] = f_{ij}^{(0)} \dot{x}_{(0)}^{j}, \qquad (4.32a)$$

$$\delta \theta_{(0)}^{i}: \qquad \qquad \frac{d}{d\tau} f_{0i}^{(0)} = 0, \qquad (4.32b)$$

$$\delta \phi_{(0)}^{ij}: \qquad \qquad \frac{d}{d\tau} f_{ij}^{(0)} = 0.$$
 (4.32c)

The (new) dynamical equations implied by $S_{\left(1\right)}$ are:

$$\delta x_{(0)}^{i}: \quad \tilde{M}\frac{d}{d\tau} \left[\frac{\dot{x}_{i(0)}\dot{s}_{(0)}^{2}}{2\sqrt{\dot{x}_{(0)}^{2}}\dot{x}_{(0)}^{2}} + \frac{\dot{x}_{i(1)}}{\sqrt{\dot{x}_{(0)}^{2}}} - \frac{\dot{\ddot{x}}_{i(0)}\cdot\dot{\vec{x}}_{i(1)}\dot{x}_{i(0)}}{\dot{\vec{x}}_{i(0)}^{2}\sqrt{\dot{\vec{x}}_{(0)}^{2}}} \right] = -f_{0i}^{(0)}\dot{s}_{(0)} + f_{ij}^{(1)}\dot{x}_{(0)}^{j} + f_{ij}^{(0)}\dot{x}_{(1)}^{j},$$

$$(4.33a)$$

$$\delta s_{(0)}: \qquad \qquad \tilde{M} \frac{d}{d\tau} \left[\frac{\dot{s}_{(0)}}{\sqrt{\dot{x}_{(0)}^2}} \right] = -f_{0i}^{(0)} \dot{x}_{(0)}^i \,, \qquad (4.33b)$$

$$\delta\theta^i_{(0)}:$$
 $\frac{d}{d\tau}f^{(1)}_{0i} = 0,$ (4.33c)

$$\delta \phi_{(0)}^{ij}:$$
 $\frac{d}{d\tau} f_{ij}^{(1)} = 0.$ (4.33d)

Under the identification $f_{(m)}^{0i} = \tilde{F}_{(m+1)}^{si}$, $f_{(m)}^{ij} = F_{(m)}^{ij}$ and after the raising/lowering indices we recover (4.9).

Under a general element of the algebra

$$\sum_{n=0}^{\infty} \left(\epsilon_{(n)} H^{(n)} + \epsilon_{(n)}^{i} P_{i}^{(n)} + \beta_{(n)}^{i} G_{i}^{(n)} + \varepsilon_{(n)}^{i} Z_{i}^{(n)} + \varepsilon_{(n)}^{ij} Z_{ij}^{(n)} \right)$$
(4.34)

the coordinates, dual to the generators defined in (4.14), transform as:

$$\delta s_{(m)} = \epsilon_{(m)} + \sum_{n=0}^{m} \beta_{(m-n)}^{i} x_{i}^{(n)}, \qquad (4.35a)$$

$$\delta x_{(m)}^{i} = \epsilon_{(m)}^{i} + \sum_{n=0}^{m-1} \beta_{(m-n-1)}^{i} s_{(n)}, \qquad (4.35b)$$

$$\delta\theta^{i}_{(m)} = \varepsilon^{i}_{(m)} + \sum_{n=0}^{m} \frac{1}{2} \epsilon^{i}_{(m-n)} s_{(n)} - \frac{1}{2} \epsilon_{(m-n)} x^{i}_{(n)} - 2\beta^{k}_{(m-n-1)} \phi^{i}_{k(n)}, \qquad (4.35c)$$

$$\delta\phi_{(m)}^{ij} = \varepsilon_{(m)}^{ij} + \sum_{n=0}^{m} \epsilon_{(m-n)}^{[i} x_{(n)}^{j]} - \beta_{(m-n)}^{[i} \theta_{(n)}^{j]}.$$
(4.35d)

Invariance also requires fixing the transformations of $f_{0i}^{(m)}$ and $f_{ij}^{(m)}$ under boosts:

$$\delta f_{0i}^{(m)} = -\sum_{n=0}^{m} \beta_{(m-n)}^{j} f_{ij}^{(n)}, \qquad (4.36a)$$

$$\delta f_{ij}^{(m)} = -2 \sum_{n=0}^{m-1} \beta_{[i}^{(m-n-1)} f_{0|j]}^{(n)}.$$
(4.36b)

This again reproduces the results from the bottom-up approach.

5 A note on the duality Carroll–Galilei

In [8] a correspondence was established in the (non-Lorentzian) expansion of a free particle between the massive (massless) Galilei case and the tachyonic (massive) Carroll regime, at the level of the action. A 'duality' between the Carroll and Galilei algebras was also established in [28,29]. Some subtleties arise when trying to extend this duality in the presence of an electromagnetic field, both at the level of the (expanded) algebra and at the level of the equations of motion.

At the level of the algebras, the duality between Carroll and Galilei can be seen for instance when studying their contraction from the Poincaré algebra, where a duality $P_0 \leftrightarrow P_i$ arises. Consider the different contractions of the Maxwell algebra to obtain the Carroll and Galilei electro-magnetic limits presented in Table 1.

Inspection of the table shows that there is no obvious duality transformation. The reason turns out to be simply that there is only one longitudinal (time) direction in this discussion and so the there is no generator that arises is naively dual to Z_{ij} since $Z_{00} = 0$ by anti-symmetry.

The situation is different if the relativistic translations would split into $P_{\mu} = (P_{\alpha}, P_i)$ as in [22], making use of several longitudinal directions α as would be the case for branes. Then there would be an element $[P_{\alpha}, P_{\beta}] = Z_{\alpha\beta}$ in the algebra that could be considered as the dual of Z_{ij} under the exchange of longitudinal and transverse directions.⁷ If one allows for more

⁷The different contractions of the Maxwell algebra in the case of more than one longitudinal direction give eight inequivalent Carroll and Galilei algebras, where the duality between them is explicit and unbroken. They are divided into three groups: of *electric* type, of *magnetic* type and of *pulse* type.

	Ga	lilei	Car	rroll
	$\tilde{M}_{ij} = M_{ij},$	$\tilde{G}_i = \frac{1}{\omega} M_{i0},$	$\tilde{M}_{ij} = M_{ij},$	$\tilde{G}_i = \frac{1}{\omega} M_{i0} ,$
Electric	$\tilde{H} = P_0,$	$\tilde{P}_i = \frac{1}{\omega} P_i,$	$\tilde{H} = \frac{1}{\omega} P_0,$	$\tilde{P}_i = P_i ,$
	$\tilde{Z}_{ij} = Z_{ij},$	$\tilde{Z}_i = \frac{1}{\omega} Z_{0i}.$	$\tilde{Z}_{ij} = Z_{ij},$	$\tilde{Z}_i = \frac{1}{\omega} Z_{0i}.$
	$\tilde{M}_{ij} = M_{ij},$	$\tilde{G}_i = \frac{1}{\omega} M_{i0},$	$\tilde{M}_{ij} = M_{ij},$	$\tilde{G}_i = \frac{1}{\omega} M_{i0} ,$
Magnetic	$\tilde{H} = P_0,$	$\tilde{P}_i = \frac{1}{\omega} P_i,$	$\tilde{H} = \frac{1}{\omega} P_0,$	$\tilde{P}_i = P_i ,$
	$\tilde{Z}_{ij} = \frac{1}{\omega^2} Z_{ij},$	$\tilde{Z}_i = \frac{1}{\omega} Z_{0i}.$	$\tilde{Z}_{ij} = Z_{ij},$	$\tilde{Z}_i = \omega Z_{0i}.$

Table 1: Contractions of the Maxwell algebra to the different non-Lorentzian algebras. The conventions are slightly changed from previous sections to match the discussion from [22].

longitudinal components, the decomposition of the Maxwell generators is $Z_{\mu\nu} = (Z_{ij}, Z_{\alpha i}, Z_{\alpha\beta})$ and we can map $P_{\alpha} \leftrightarrow P_i$, $Z_{\alpha i} \leftrightarrow Z_{\alpha i}$ and $Z_{ij} \leftrightarrow Z_{\alpha\beta}$. The electro-magnetic type of the contraction gets switched and the pattern is not obvious, as there are multiple electric/magneticlike contractions when we allow for multiple longitudinal directions. In particular, the magnetic Galilei regime gets mapped via this duality to the electric Carroll regime.

One can check that duality in the case of the expanded algebras and their commutation relations is not present at the level of the equations of motion in absence of generators P_{α} and $Z_{\alpha\beta}$ either, where the duality would come from the coordinate of the generators of the algebra, $x^0 \leftrightarrow \vec{x}, F^{ij} \leftrightarrow F^{\alpha\beta}$.

The duality between Carroll and Galilei regimes in the presence of an electro-magnetic field, or from an algebra point of view, in the case of their Maxwell extensions, can still be traced back to the interchange of transverse and longitudinal directions. Unfortunately, the antisymmetry of the Maxwell generators Z_{ab} (or alternatively of the electro-magnetic tensor F^{ab}) and the presence of only one longitudinal direction makes this symmetry degenerate.

6 Conclusion

In this paper we have investigated several non-Lorentzian expansions of the Lorentz force for a particle in a constant electro-magnetic field: a Galilean expansion in the case of a massive point particle and a Carrollian one in the case of a tachyonic point particle. In both cases, there are also different limits depending on the relative strength of the electric and magnetic fields: the electric, magnetic and pulse limit.

Expanding the position and time coordinates in powers of $1/c^2$ (or $1/C^2$), as well as a similar expansion for the electric and magnetic field components, we have obtained a series of equations of motion, which can be thought as a series of relativistic corrections to the non-Lorentzian limits.

We also showed that this analysis agrees with a top-down approach based on a Lie algebra expansion of the underlying symmetry algebras. We obtained the algebra of symmetries of the expanded equations, that turned out to be infinite-dimensional algebras which appear as certain infinite-dimensional expansions using the semigroup expansion method of the Maxwell algebra. We have also shown how to obtain the very same equations of motion from considering non-linear realisations of the infinite-dimensional algebras.

We have also discussed the possible extension of the known duality between the Carroll and Galilei limits in the presence of an electro-magnetic field, via their algebra of symmetries.

Our analysis was restricted to constant electro-magnetic fields and it would be interesting to extend it to varying fields. One possible starting point would be the extension of Maxwell algebras considered in [17,18] where one would need to consider first the analogues of the various non-Lorentzian limits appearing in the present paper.

An interesting open question is whether a similar construction can be carried out in the case of a test particle in a fixed gravitational background. For this one would need to study the non-Lorentzian limits of the geodesic equation with an appropriate notion of constancy of the gravitational background. The same issue arises for a coloured particle coupled to a Yang–Mills background [30].

Acknowledgements

We are grateful to Luca Ciambelli, Jaume Gomis, Sabrina Pasterski and Jorge Russo for interesting discussions. AK gratefully acknowledges the generous hospitality of the Universitat de Barcelona through the Maria de Maeztu programme where this work was initiated. JG acknowledges the hospitality and support of the Max Planck Institute for Gravitational Physics in Golm and the Perimeter Institute in Waterloo where this work has been further elaborated. The research of JG was supported in part by PID2019-105614GB-C21 and by the State Agency for Research of the Spanish Ministry of Science and Innovation through the Unit of Excellence Maria de Maeztu 2020-2023 award to the Institute of Cosmos Sciences (CEX2019-000918-M).

A Expanding in 1/c

In this appendix, we consider the possibility of expanding all quantities in terms of powers of 1/c rather than $1/c^2$ as done in the main part of the paper in sections 2 and 3. This is relevant for including also the pulse limit [22, 23]. We will focus only on the expansion in the Galilei limit, as the Carroll case then is straight-forward.

We write the expansion of the variables in powers of 1/c instead of $1/c^2$ as

$$t = t_{(0)} + \frac{1}{c}t_{(1/2)} + \frac{1}{c^2}t_{(1)} + \dots, \qquad x^i = x^i_{(0)} + \frac{1}{c}x^i_{(1/2)} + \frac{1}{c^2}x^i_{(1)} + \dots$$
$$\tilde{F}^{ti} = \tilde{F}^{ti}_{(0)} + \frac{1}{c}\tilde{F}^{ti}_{(1/2)} + \frac{1}{c^2}\tilde{F}^{ti}_{(1)} + \dots, \qquad F^{ij} = F^{ij}_{(0)} + \frac{1}{c}F^{ij}_{(1/2)} + \frac{1}{c^2}F^{ij}_{(1)} + \dots$$
(A.1)

We then obtain the following equations for the temporal component of the Lorentz equation (2.2a) at lowest orders in the expansion:

$$m\frac{d}{d\tau} \left[\frac{\dot{x}_{(0)}^2}{2t_{(0)}^2} \right] = \tilde{F}_{(0)}^{ti} \dot{x}_{(0)i} , \qquad (A.2a)$$

$$m\frac{d}{d\tau}\left[\frac{\dot{\vec{x}}_{(0)}\cdot\dot{\vec{x}}_{(1/2)}}{\dot{t}_{(0)}^2} - \frac{\dot{t}_{(1/2)}\dot{\vec{x}}_{(0)}^2}{\dot{t}_{(0)}^3}\right] = \tilde{F}_{(0)}^{ti}\dot{x}_{(1/2)i} + \tilde{F}_{(1/2)}^{ti}\dot{x}_{(0)i}$$
(A.2b)

and

$$\begin{split} m \frac{d}{d\tau} \left[\frac{3}{8} \frac{\dot{\vec{x}}_{(0)}^4}{\dot{t}_{(0)}^4} + \frac{3}{2} \frac{\dot{\vec{t}}_{(1/2)}^2 \dot{\vec{x}}_{(0)}^2}{\dot{t}_{(0)}^4} - \frac{\dot{\vec{t}}_{(1)} \dot{\vec{x}}_{(0)}^2}{\dot{t}_{(0)}^3} - 2 \frac{\dot{\vec{t}}_{(1/2)} \dot{\vec{x}}_{(0)} \cdot \dot{\vec{x}}_{(1/2)}}{\dot{t}_{(0)}^3} + \frac{\dot{\vec{x}}_{(1/2)}^2}{2\dot{t}_{(0)}^2} + \frac{\dot{\vec{x}}_{(0)} \cdot \dot{\vec{x}}_{(1)}}{\dot{t}_{(0)}^2} \right] \\ = \tilde{F}_{(0)}^{ti} \dot{x}_{(1)i} + \tilde{F}_{(1)}^{ti} \dot{x}_{(0)i} + \tilde{F}_{(1/2)}^{ti} \dot{x}_{(1/2)i} \,. \end{split}$$
(A.2c)

For the spatial component of the Lorentz force (2.2b) we get

$$m\frac{d}{d\tau} \begin{bmatrix} \dot{x}_{(0)}^{i} \\ \bar{t}_{(0)} \end{bmatrix} = -\tilde{F}_{(0)}^{it} \dot{t}_{(0)} + F_{(0)}^{ij} \dot{x}_{(0)j}$$
(A.3a)
$$m\frac{d}{d\tau} \begin{bmatrix} -\frac{\dot{t}_{(1/2)} \dot{x}_{(0)}^{i}}{\dot{t}_{(0)}^{2}} + \frac{\dot{x}_{(1/2)}^{i}}{\dot{t}_{(0)}} \end{bmatrix} = -\tilde{F}_{(0)}^{it} \dot{t}_{(1/2)} + F_{(0)}^{ij} \dot{x}_{(1/2)j} - \tilde{F}_{(1/2)}^{it} \dot{t}_{(0)} + F_{(1/2)}^{ij} \dot{x}_{(0)j}$$
(A.3b)

as well as

$$m\frac{d}{d\tau}\left[\frac{1}{2}\frac{\dot{\vec{x}}_{(0)}^{2}\dot{\vec{x}}_{(0)}^{i}}{\dot{\vec{t}}_{(0)}^{3}} - \frac{\dot{\vec{t}}_{(1)}\dot{\vec{x}}_{(0)}^{i}}{\dot{\vec{t}}_{(0)}^{2}} - \frac{\dot{\vec{t}}_{(1/2)}\dot{\vec{x}}_{(1/2)}^{i}}{\dot{\vec{t}}_{(0)}^{2}} + \frac{\dot{\vec{x}}_{(1)}^{i}}{\dot{\vec{t}}_{(0)}} + \frac{\dot{\vec{t}}_{(1/2)}^{2}\dot{\vec{x}}_{(0)}^{i}}{\dot{\vec{t}}_{(0)}^{3}}\right]$$
$$= -\tilde{F}_{(0)}^{it}\dot{\vec{t}}_{(1)} - \tilde{F}_{(1/2)}^{it}\dot{\vec{t}}_{(1/2)} - \tilde{F}_{(1)}^{it}\dot{\vec{t}}_{(0)} + F_{(1)}^{ij}\dot{\vec{x}}_{(0)j} + F_{(1/2)}^{ij}\dot{\vec{x}}_{(1/2)j} + F_{(0)}^{ij}\dot{\vec{x}}_{(1)j}$$
(A.3c)

In this context the magnetic, electric and pulse limits are obtained as follows:

- 1. Magnetic: By keeping $F_{(0)}^{ij} \neq 0$. The equations of motion are formally the same as (A.2, A.3).
- 2. Electric: Obtained by setting $F_{(0)}^{ij} = F_{(1/2)}^{ij} = 0$ and keeping $\tilde{F}_{(0)}^{ti} \neq 0$. The equations of motion are (A.2) for the temporal component and for the space components:

$$m\frac{d}{d\tau} \left[\frac{\dot{x}_{(0)}^{i}}{\dot{t}_{(0)}} \right] = -\tilde{F}_{(0)}^{it} \dot{t}_{(0)} + F_{(0)}^{ij} \dot{x}_{(0)j}$$
(A.4a)

$$m\frac{d}{d\tau} \left[-\frac{\dot{t}_{(1/2)}\dot{x}_{(0)}^{i}}{\dot{t}_{(0)}^{2}} + \frac{\dot{x}_{(1/2)}^{i}}{\dot{t}_{(0)}} \right] = -\tilde{F}_{(0)}^{it}\dot{t}_{(1/2)} - \tilde{F}_{(1/2)}^{it}\dot{t}_{(0)}$$
(A.4b)
$$m\frac{d}{d\tau} \left[\frac{1}{2} \frac{\dot{\vec{x}}_{(0)}^{2}\dot{x}_{(0)}^{i}}{\dot{x}_{(0)}^{i}} - \frac{\dot{t}_{(1)}\dot{x}_{(0)}^{i}}{\dot{x}_{(0)}^{2}} - \frac{\dot{t}_{(1/2)}\dot{x}_{(1/2)}^{i}}{\dot{x}_{(1/2)}^{2}} + \frac{\dot{x}_{(1)}^{i}}{\dot{x}_{(1)}^{i}} + \frac{\dot{t}_{(1/2)}^{2}\dot{x}_{(0)}^{i}}{\dot{x}_{(0)}^{2}} \right]$$

$$\frac{d}{d\tau} \left[\frac{1}{2} \frac{x_{(0)}^{\tau} x_{(0)}^{*}}{\dot{t}_{(0)}^{3}} - \frac{t_{(1)}^{\tau} x_{(0)}^{*}}{\dot{t}_{(0)}^{2}} - \frac{t_{(1/2)}^{\tau} x_{(1/2)}^{*}}{\dot{t}_{(0)}^{2}} + \frac{x_{(1)}^{*}}{\dot{t}_{(0)}} + \frac{t_{(1/2)}^{\tau} x_{(0)}^{*}}{\dot{t}_{(0)}^{3}} \right]$$
$$= -\tilde{F}_{(0)}^{it} \dot{t}_{(1)} - \tilde{F}_{(1/2)}^{it} \dot{t}_{(1/2)} - \tilde{F}_{(1)}^{it} \dot{t}_{(0)} + F_{(1)}^{ij} \dot{x}_{(0)j}$$
(A.4c)

. . .

3. Pulse: This is obtained by setting $F_{(0)}^{ij} = 0$ and keeping $\tilde{F}_{(0)}^{ti}, F_{(1/2)}^{ij} \neq 0$. The temporal equations are again (A.2), while the space component are:

$$m\frac{d}{d\tau} \left[\frac{\dot{x}_{(0)}^{i}}{\dot{t}_{(0)}} \right] = -\tilde{F}_{(0)}^{it} \dot{t}_{(0)} + F_{(0)}^{ij} \dot{x}_{(0)j}$$
(A.5a)

$$m\frac{d}{d\tau} \left[-\frac{\dot{t}_{(1/2)}\dot{x}_{(0)}^{i}}{\dot{t}_{(0)}^{2}} + \frac{\dot{x}_{(1/2)}^{i}}{\dot{t}_{(0)}} \right] = -\tilde{F}_{(0)}^{it}\dot{t}_{(1/2)} - \tilde{F}_{(1/2)}^{it}\dot{t}_{(0)} + F_{(1/2)}^{ij}\dot{x}_{(0)j}$$
(A.5b)

$$\begin{split} m\frac{d}{d\tau} \begin{bmatrix} \frac{1}{2}\frac{\dot{\vec{x}}_{(0)}^{2}\dot{\vec{x}}_{(0)}^{i}}{\dot{t}_{(0)}^{3}} - \frac{\dot{t}_{(1)}\dot{\vec{x}}_{(0)}^{i}}{\dot{t}_{(0)}^{2}} - \frac{\dot{t}_{(1/2)}\dot{\vec{x}}_{(1/2)}^{i}}{\dot{t}_{(0)}^{2}} + \frac{\dot{\vec{x}}_{(1)}^{i}}{\dot{t}_{(0)}} + \frac{\dot{t}_{(1/2)}^{2}\dot{\vec{x}}_{(0)}^{i}}{\dot{t}_{(0)}^{3}} \end{bmatrix} \\ &= -\tilde{F}_{(0)}^{it}\dot{t}_{(1)} - \tilde{F}_{(1/2)}^{it}\dot{t}_{(1/2)} - \tilde{F}_{(1)}^{it}\dot{t}_{(0)} + F_{(1)}^{ij}\dot{\vec{x}}_{(0)j} + F_{(1/2)}^{ij}\dot{\vec{x}}_{(1/2)j} \\ & (A.5c) \end{split}$$

It can be checked that all the equations above are invariant under the Lorentz transformations expanded in 1/c when taking the appropriate limit.

. . .

Even though the equations of motion in the electric/magnetic limit in the 1/c-expansion are different from those in the $1/c^2$ -expansion, they realise the same algebra of symmetries as in the $1/c^2$ -expansion, namely (3.9) and (3.25) respectively. In fact, equations (A.2–A.4) can be obtained from the Lie algebra approach, by setting the expansion parameter $\lambda = 1/\sqrt{c}$, so that $\lambda_{2m} = c^{-m}$.

Another interesting observation, already mentioned in [31], is that the $1/c^2$ expansion can be obtained from the 1/c expansion via a reshuffling of the terms in the 1/c expansion. In the free case, both the 1/c and $1/c^2$ expansion yield the same equations of motion. In the presence of an electro-magnetic field, the finer 1/c equations allow us not only to detect the case of the pulse limit, but also give corrections with respect to the $1/c^2$ expansion.

One way to check if they are describing the same physics is to use the gauge condition and projection used in [15]:

$$\frac{1}{c^{2m}}x^i_{(m)} = x^i, \qquad \frac{1}{c^{2m}}t_{(m)} = t = \tau, \qquad (A.6)$$

where $m \in \frac{1}{2}\mathbb{Z}$. Here, we have only written a projection for the space-time coordinates since we do not know how to properly define a similar projection for the electro-magnetic field.

Thus, focusing only on the free part of the action without electro-magnetic field, the expanded action in 1/c is

$$S = \int d\tau \left\{ -mc^{2}\dot{t}_{(0)} - mc\left[\dot{t}_{(1/2)}\right] - m\left[\dot{t}_{(1)} - \frac{\dot{x}_{(0)}^{2}}{2\dot{t}_{(0)}^{2}}\right] - m\frac{1}{c}\left[\dot{t}_{(3/2)} + \frac{\dot{t}_{(1/2)}\dot{x}_{(0)}^{2}}{2\dot{t}_{(0)}^{3}} - \frac{\dot{x}_{(1/2)}^{i}\dot{x}_{(0)i}}{\dot{t}_{(0)}^{2}}\right] + \dots \right\}$$
(A.7)

After the projection the 1/c-expanded action reads:

$$S_{(0)} = \int d\tau \left[-mc^2 \right] \tag{A.8a}$$

$$S_{(1/2)} = \int d\tau \left[-mc^2 \right] \tag{A.8b}$$

$$S_{(1)} = \int d\tau \left[-mc^2 + \frac{1}{2}m\dot{\vec{x}}^2 \right]$$
(A.8c)

$$S_{(3/2)} = \int d\tau \left[-mc^2 + \frac{1}{2}m\dot{\vec{x}}^2 \right]$$
(A.8d)

We see that the 1/c expansion produces the same results as the $1/c^2$ expansion after imposing the projection condition (A.6). In particular, all the equations from the $1/c^2$ expansion are simply duplicated.

B Free Lie algebras

The infinite dimensional algebras \mathfrak{M}_{∞} and \mathfrak{E}_{∞} can also be obtained as particular quotients of the Galilean free algebras. We do not consider the Carroll case here, the extension to Carroll is straight-forward. A free Lie algebra with D = d + 1 generators $\{P_{\mu}\}$, is the Lie algebra whose elements are all possible multi-commutators of the generators. The only relations imposed are antisymmetry and the Jacobi identity. The free Lie algebra \mathfrak{f} admits a natural N-grading

$$\mathfrak{f} = \bigoplus_{\ell=1}^{\infty} \mathfrak{f}_{\ell} \tag{B.1}$$

where each summand f_{ℓ} consists of all possible multi-commutators with ℓ elements.

The recursive relation between each level and the lower ones can be summarised by a generating series identity that reads [32, 33]

$$\bigotimes_{\ell=1}^{\infty} \left[\bigoplus_{k=0}^{\infty} (-1)^k t^{k\ell} \wedge^k \mathfrak{f}_\ell \right] = 1 - t \mathfrak{f}_1 \tag{B.2}$$

Elements in \mathfrak{f}_{ℓ} can be grouped by representations of the symmetric group \mathcal{S}_D acting on the elements in a set of multi-commutator of ℓ free Lie algebra generators. For this reason we can represent them using Young diagrams with ℓ boxes, for example

$$\mathfrak{f}_1 \leftrightarrow \square, \qquad \mathfrak{f}_2 \leftrightarrow \square, \qquad \mathfrak{f}_3 \leftrightarrow \square \quad \text{etc.}$$
(B.3)

The relation of free Lie algebras to Chevalley–Eilenberg cohomology was disccussed in [18]. Free Lie algebras can be also defined in the superalgebra case, see for example [32, 33].

Thinking of the elements of \mathfrak{f}_1 as the translation generators of some kinematic algebra, we will also make use of the action of some Lorentz-type of algebra on them. We call the corresponding Lie algebra $\mathfrak{f}_0 = \{M_{\mu\nu}\}$ and then have a graded structure

$$\mathfrak{f}_0 \oplus \mathfrak{f}_1 \tag{B.4}$$

to begin with. The action of f_0 extends to all f_ℓ by using the Leibniz property.

We wish to construct free Lie algebras for the electric and magnetic Maxwell algebras in the non-Lorentzian limits. This requires making a choice of starting generators adapted to the non-Lorentzian limit in question.

For the Galilean electric free algebra we then obtain the first levels shown in Table 2.

	$\ell = 0$	$\ell = 1$	$\ell = 2$	$\ell = 3$	$\ell = 4$	$\ell = 5$
m = 0	M_{ij}	G_i	S_{ij}	$Y_{ij,k}$	₽⊕	
m = 1		Η	P_i	$B_{ij}, Z_{i,j}$	$\Box \Box \oplus 2 \blacksquare \oplus \blacksquare$	$4 \blacksquare \oplus \blacksquare \blacksquare \oplus 9 \blacksquare \oplus 5 \blacksquare \blacksquare \oplus 3$
m=2			Z_{ij}	□⊕₽⊕₽	$\Box\!\!\Box \oplus 2 \blacksquare \oplus \blacksquare \oplus$	
					₽₽₽₽₽	
m = 3				Β	$\Box \oplus 2 \blacksquare \oplus 2 \blacksquare$	$7 \textcircled{\oplus} 2 \blacksquare \textcircled{\oplus} 4 \textcircled{\oplus} 7 \textcircled{\oplus} 12 \textcircled{\oplus} 5 \textcircled{\oplus} 1$
m = 4					₿⊕₽	$5 \blacksquare \oplus \Box \oplus 4 \blacksquare \oplus 2 \blacksquare \oplus 4 \blacksquare \oplus 4 \blacksquare \oplus$
						5比⊕⊞
m = 5						

Table 2: Table with all generators up to level $\ell = 5$ of the Galilean electric free lie algebra. We have used Young tableaux notation to represent $\mathfrak{gl}(D)$ - tensors. A double grading (ℓ, m) was used, following [23].

We will be particularly interested in a quotient of the Galilean electric free algebra which we will denote \mathfrak{E}_{∞} and shown in Table 3.

	$\ell = 0$	$\ell = 1$	$\ell = 2$	$\ell = 3$	$\ell = 4$	$\ell = 5$
m = 0	$J_{ij}^{(0)}$	$G_i^{(0)}$	$J_{ij}^{(1)} = S_{ij}$	$G_i^{(1)} = Y_i$	$J_{ij}^{(2)}$	$G_i^{(2)}$
m = 1	_	$H^{(0)}$	$P_i^{(0)}$	$H^{(1)} = N = \frac{1}{D-1} \delta^{ij} Z_{i,j}$	$P_i^{(1)}$	$H^{(2)}$
m=2	-	-	$Z_{ij}^{(0)}$	$Z_i^{(0)} = [H, P_i]$	$Z_{ij}^{(1)}$	$Z_i^{(1)}$

Table 3: First few generators of the quotient \mathfrak{E}_{∞} of the Galilean electric free algebra.

For the Galilean Magnetic free algebra we obtain Table 4.

The quotient we will be interested in will be the one from Table 5 and we will denote it by \mathfrak{M}_{∞} .

Another interesting truncation of both the electric and magnetic Galilean free algebras is \mathfrak{G}_{∞} , presented in Table 6 which was discussed in [15].

	$\ell = 0$	$\ell = 1$	$\ell = 2$	$\ell = 3$	$\ell = 4$	$\ell = 5$
m = 0	M_{ij}	G_i	S_{ij}	$Y_{ij,k}$	₽₽⊕₽	
m = 1		H	P_i	$B_{ij}, Z_{i,j}$	$\blacksquare \blacksquare \oplus 2 \blacksquare \oplus \blacksquare$	$3 \boxed{3} \oplus 4 \textcircled{1} \oplus 9 \textcircled{1} \oplus 5 \textcircled{1} \oplus 12 \blacksquare \blacksquare$
m=2				Z_i	$\blacksquare \oplus \blacksquare \oplus Z_{ij}$	$ \begin{array}{c} - & 6 \\ \hline \end{array} \oplus \overline{8} \\ \hline \end{array} \oplus 2 \\ \hline \end{array} $
m=3						4 $\square \oplus 2$ \square
m = 4						

Table 4: Table with all generators up to level $\ell = 5$ of the Galilean magnetic free algebra.

	$\ell = 0$	$\ell = 1$	$\ell = 2$	$\ell = 3$	$\ell = 4$	
m = 0	$J_{ij}^{(0)}$	$G_i^{(0)}$	$J_{ij}^{(1)} = S_{ij}$	$G_i^{(1)}$	$J_{ij}^{(2)}$	
m = 1	-	$H^{(0)}$	$P_{i}^{(0)}$	$H^{(1)}$	$P^{(1)}$	
m=2				$Z_i^{(0)}$	$Z_{ij}^{(0)}$	

Table 5: First few generators of the quotient \mathfrak{M}_{∞} of the magnetic free algebra.

	$\ell = 0$	$\ell = 1$	$\ell = 2$	$\ell = 3$	$\ell = 4$	
m = 0	M_{ij}	G_i	S_{ij}	$Y_i = \delta^{jk} Y_{ij,k}$		
m = 1		H	P_i	$N = \delta^{ij} Z_{i,j}$		•••

Table 6: Table with the first few generators of the quotient \mathfrak{G}_{∞} of the magnetic free algebra.

References

- E. Bergshoeff, J. Figueroa-O'Farrill, and J. Gomis, "A non-lorentzian primer," SciPost Phys. Lect. Notes 69 (2023) 1, arXiv:2206.12177 [hep-th].
- [2] H. Bacry and J. Lévy-Leblond, "Possible kinematics," J. Math. Phys. 9 (1968) 1605–1614.
- [3] H. Bacry and J. Nuyts, "Classification of ten-dimensional kinematical groups with space isotropy," J. Math. Phys. 27 (1986) no. 10, 2455–2457.
- [4] J. Figueroa-O'Farrill, "Classification of kinematical Lie algebras," arXiv:1711.05676 [hep-th].
- [5] J. M. Figueroa-O'Farrill, "Kinematical Lie algebras via deformation theory," J. Math. Phys. 59 (2018) no. 6, 061701, arXiv:1711.06111 [hep-th].
- [6] J. Figueroa-O'Farrill and S. Prohazka, "Spatially isotropic homogeneous spacetimes," JHEP 01 (2019) 229, arXiv:1809.01224 [hep-th].
- [7] J. Hartong, N. A. Obers, and G. Oling, "Review on Non-Relativistic Gravity," Front. in Phys. 11 (2023) 1116888, arXiv:2212.11309 [gr-qc].
- [8] J. Gomis and A. Kleinschmidt, "Infinite-Dimensional Algebras as Extensions of Kinematic Algebras," *Front. in Phys.* 10 (2022) 892812, arXiv:2202.05026 [hep-th].

- M. Hatsuda and M. Sakaguchi, "Wess-Zumino term for the AdS superstring and generalized Inonu-Wigner contraction," *Prog. Theor. Phys.* 109 (2003) 853-867, arXiv:hep-th/0106114.
- [10] N. Boulanger, M. Henneaux, and P. van Nieuwenhuizen, "Conformal (super)gravities with several gravitons," JHEP 01 (2002) 035, arXiv:hep-th/0201023.
- [11] J. A. de Azcárraga, J. M. Izquierdo, M. Picón, and O. Varela, "Generating Lie and gauge free differential (super)algebras by expanding Maurer-Cartan forms and Chern-Simons supergravity," *Nucl. Phys. B* 662 (2003) 185–219, arXiv:hep-th/0212347.
- [12] F. Izaurieta, E. Rodriguez, and P. Salgado, "Expanding Lie (super)algebras through Abelian semigroups," J. Math. Phys. 47 (2006) 123512, arXiv:hep-th/0606215.
- [13] J. A. de Azcárraga, J. M. Izquierdo, M. Picón, and O. Varela, "Expansions of algebras and superalgebras and some applications," *Int. J. Theor. Phys.* 46 (2007) 2738–2752, arXiv:hep-th/0703017.
- [14] E. Bergshoeff, J. M. Izquierdo, T. Ortín, and L. Romano, "Lie Algebra Expansions and Actions for Non-Relativistic Gravity," *JHEP* 08 (2019) 048, arXiv:1904.08304 [hep-th].
- [15] J. Gomis, A. Kleinschmidt, J. Palmkvist, and P. Salgado-Rebolledo, "Symmetries of post-Galilean expansions," *Phys. Rev. Lett.* **124** (2020) no. 8, 081602, arXiv:1910.13560 [hep-th].
- [16] R. Schrader, "The Maxwell group and the quantum theory of particles in classical homogeneous electromagnetic fields," *Fortsch. Phys.* 20 (1972) 701–734.
- [17] S. Bonanos and J. Gomis, "Infinite Sequence of Poincare Group Extensions: Structure and Dynamics," J. Phys. A 43 (2010) 015201, arXiv:0812.4140 [hep-th].
- [18] J. Gomis and A. Kleinschmidt, "On free Lie algebras and particles in electro-magnetic fields," JHEP 07 (2017) 085, arXiv:1705.05854 [hep-th].
- [19] W. G. Dixon, "Description of extended bodies by multipole moments in special relativity," J. Math. Phys. 8 (1967) 1591.
- [20] M. Le Bellac and J. M. Lévy-Leblond, "Galilean Electromagnetism," Nuovo Cim. B 14 (1973) 217–234.
- [21] C. Duval, G. W. Gibbons, P. A. Horváthy, and P. M. Zhang, "Carroll versus Newton and Galilei: two dual non-Einsteinian concepts of time," *Class. Quant. Grav.* **31** (2014) 085016, arXiv:1402.0657 [gr-qc].
- [22] A. Barducci, R. Casalbuoni, and J. Gomis, "Contractions of the Maxwell algebra," J. Phys. A 52 (2019) no. 39, 395201, arXiv:1904.00902 [hep-th].

- [23] J. Gomis, A. Kleinschmidt, and J. Palmkvist, "Galilean free Lie algebras," JHEP 09 (2019) 109, arXiv:1907.00410 [hep-th].
- [24] H. Bacry, P. Combe, and J. L. Richard, "Group-theoretical analysis of elementary particles in an external electromagnetic field. 1. the relativistic particle in a constant and uniform field," *Nuovo Cim. A* 67 (1970) 267–299.
- [25] J. Gomis, A. Kleinschmidt, J. Palmkvist, and P. Salgado-Rebolledo,
 "Newton-Hooke/Carrollian expansions of (A)dS and Chern-Simons gravity," JHEP 02 (2020) 009, arXiv:1912.07564 [hep-th].
- [26] J. de Boer, J. Hartong, N. A. Obers, W. Sybesma, and S. Vandoren, "Carroll Symmetry, Dark Energy and Inflation," *Front. in Phys.* **10** (2022) 810405, arXiv:2110.02319 [hep-th].
- [27] J.-M. Lévy-Leblond, "Une nouvelle limite non-relativiste du groupe de Poincaré," Annales de l'I.H.P. Physique théorique 3 (1965) no. 1, 1-12. http://archive.numdam.org/item/AIHPA_1965_3_1_1_0/.
- [28] A. Barducci, R. Casalbuoni, and J. Gomis, "Confined dynamical systems with Carroll and Galilei symmetries," *Phys. Rev. D* 98 (2018) no. 8, 085018, arXiv:1804.10495 [hep-th].
- [29] J. Figueroa-O'Farrill, "Lie algebraic Carroll/Galilei duality," J. Math. Phys. 64 (2023) no. 1, 013503, arXiv:2210.13924 [math.DG].
- [30] S. K. Wong, "Field and particle equations for the classical Yang-Mills field and particles with isotopic spin," *Nuovo Cim. A* 65 (1970) 689–694.
- [31] M. Elbistan, E. Hamamci, D. Van den Bleeken, and U. Zorba, "A 3+1 formulation of the 1/c expansion of General Relativity," JHEP 02 (2023) 108, arXiv:2210.15440 [gr-qc].
- [32] M. Cederwall and J. Palmkvist, "Superalgebras, constraints and partition functions," JHEP 08 (2015) 036, arXiv:1503.06215 [hep-th].
- [33] J. Gomis, A. Kleinschmidt, and J. Palmkvist, "Symmetries of M-theory and free Lie superalgebras," JHEP 03 (2019) 160, arXiv:1809.09171 [hep-th].